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Northfield, Filton Airfield, Bristol

Summary

Filton in Bristol is an area of considerable signdnce in the history and
development of aviation in England. This significarparticularly stems from Sir
George White's pioneering British and Colonial Aaft Company (later renamed the
Bristol Aeroplane Company or BAC) which was es&f@dd in Filton in 1910 and the
associated airfield which was laid out in the foliog year. The BAC expanded
greatly during the First World War and in the 192@snew RAF station was
established as part of the existing aerodrome #bfRi In the later 1930s the RAF
underwent a period of great expansion in resporseahe threat posed by Nazi
Germany and the continuing national importance ofoR at this time is underlined
by the fact that by 1936 nearly a third of the witsrlaero engines were made at the
BAC factories.

The relationship between Filton and the aircraftliistry continued in the post-war
era, perhaps the most high-profile expression oiciwhvas through Concorde which
was tested in Filton and also prototypes manufaaturere.

Although the airfield as a whole continued to terivito the 21st century as Filton

Airport the 1920s RAF station had closed in thee 14850s and this area, together
with a large adjacent area to the north which hagkb used by the Americans in the
Second World War, saw only limited use in the tiestades of the 20th century. By the
1990s this large area, collectively now known asthieeld, was largely disused and it

was rapidly becoming heavily overgrown. At thiseimany of the buildings from the

former RAF Station were demolished and options tfa@ redevelopment of this

redundant part of the airfield began to be consiakr

Permission for a large redevelopment of the Noeldfisite were finally passed in
March 2008 with the condition that a programme oilding recording be undertaken
prior to the demolition of the existing structurasthe site. The buildings recorded
included structures from the 1920s RAF base sudh@®perations Block, the Main
Stores and the substation which had escaped deomolih the 1990s. Date stones
showed that each of these buildings had been asetstt in 1927 and they conformed
closely to the standardised architectural form afiald buildings of this period. The
recording also included a number of buildings addledhe later 1930s or during the
Second World War, particularly shelters and struetusuch as pillboxes relating to
airfield defence. The existence of several of theas less well known prior to the
current work than the 1920s buildings. The currstudy has also covered a number
of buildings or features from the later 2@entury which related to the testing and
development of missile systems.
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1 INTRODUCTION

11
111

12
121

1.2.2

1.2.3

124

1.25

1.2.6

1.2.7

Background

Oxford Archaeology (OA) have been commissiobgdBovis Homes to undertake a
programme of historic building recording and invgation at Filton Airfield on the
northern edge of Bristol. The work relates to ganamixed-use redevelopment of a
redundant part of the airfield and is part of aevideries of works undertaken at the site
by OA. The development area is immediately to nbeth of the current, operational
airfield and it contains the historic core of tH#20s airfield.

Planning background and related works

The proposed development to which the curdectuument relates has had a long and
complex planning history. An outline is includeeldw to explain the background to the
current project.

In 2001 OA were commissioned by Terence O'R®ion behalf of Bovis Homes) to

undertake an archaeological desk-based assessiitiet mroposed development area to
assess the impact of a proposed development ocutheal heritage of the site. In 2003

this document was updated and although it conta@medutline gazetteer of the surviving
buildings on the site it was neither a formal avehrecord of the structures nor a
comprehensive assessment of every feature atttheltie 2003 document was submitted
as part of an outline planning application madetiier Northfield site by Bovis Homes.

In 2006 a revised masterplan application lier game site was submitted and as part of
this OA were commissioned to undertake an assedsofighe impact of the proposed
development on the settings of two buildings whigd been listed at Grade Il by
English Heritage in 2005 and which were immediatelyhe south of the development.
These buildings are a Triple Bay Hangar (also knasra General Service Shed) and a
side opening hangar and the planning authority ts@loucestershire Council) had a
obligation to consider the impact of the developtmem their setting. In addition OA
also updated their previous impact assessmentrasfithe submission.

In April 2006 the masterplan application waBised by South Gloucestershire Council
and among the points of refusal was the impacthef development on the cultural

heritage of the site. In response to this OA wemamissioned in June 2006 to undertake
an assessment of the historical significance otiratable at the site which had not

previously been considered.

Bovis Homes then lodged an appeal againgtlting refusal but continued to discuss
the application with South Gloucestershire Couircthe hope of reaching agreement on
the reasons for refusal.

At the suggestion of South Gloucestershire "CbuOA were also subsequently
commissioned in 2006 to undertake a programme dflihg (and structural) recording
of visible features at the site in order to enstnat there were no previously
unrecognised significant features on the site alsd o provide a pre-development
record of the structures on the site. OA produaétiritten Scheme of Investigation for
the recording and this was approved by South Gletecghire Council. The current
document provides the results of this recordinggamme.

A Planning Inquiry was held in December 200 ithe appeal against the refusal of
planning permission and in March 2007 this Inqudigmissed the appeal (although not
on heritage grounds). The Inquiry did however abersthat there was a good chance of
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13
131

1.3.2

the application being granted after amendmentsthBudiscussions continued between
South Gloucestershire and the planning team aneeawnt was reached in the March
2008 for the approval of the development.

Significance of Filton Airfield

The overall significance of Filton Airfieldsavell as that of the individual surviving
buildings was assessed by English Heritage as gfatheir Monuments Protection

Programme and the related thematic listing programihe volume on military aviation

sites was published in April 2000. This was aaval survey intended to identify the
most complete, historically important and repreatiwe airfield buildings for protection.

None of the buildings inside the proposed develapgnaea were recommended for
listing but two hangars immediately to the southitofere (Buildings 52 and 61 in the
gazetteer at the rear of this document).

In addition following the submission of thegimal OAU report in 2001 the Flak Tower

(OA2 in current gazetteer) which is of some histakinterest as an unusual survivor of a
type of once quite common war-time airfield struetwas considered for scheduling, at
the request of David Evans the HER Officer for $ioGloucestershire. The structure
was examined by English Heritage and a report preduThe basic conclusions of the
English Heritage assessment was tladthough the flak tower is a comparatively rare
survival of this once common type of war time aldidefence the example at Filton has
been altered and significantly compromised. ... THeas been extensive repair to the
main structure and few of the expected associatetttsires are present. The site was
therefore considered to be “of local importanceneatthan National Importance'

2 MEeTHoDOLOGY

2.1
2.11

2.2
221

222

2.2.3

224

Aims and objectives

The main aim of the project was to record gdosterity the historic structures prior to
their removal in the redevelopment of the site. Woek particularly concentrated on the
structures' construction, development, alteratioch ase.

M ethodology

The building recording was undertaken at Le¥eds defined by English Heritage in
Understanding Historic Buildings: a Guide to Goo@derding Practice(2006) and it
covered all surviving buildings or structures a #lite. This document states that Level 2
is: 'a descriptive record, made in circumstances sintilethose of Level 1 but when more
information is needed. It may be made of a bugdirhich is judged not to require any
fuller record or it may serve to gather data fomader project. Both the exterior and
interior will be viewed, described and photographe@d plan and sometimes other
drawings may be made but the drawn record will raliynnot be comprehensive'.

The recording comprised three principal elasies photographic record, a drawn record
and a written record.

The drawn record utilised an existing outlinetric survey of the site which showed the
footprint of the main buildings but this was coresiably enhanced to show the missing
structures as well as the internal layout of thagipal buildings.

The Northfield area had been disused for mgars prior to the current project and
areas were heavily overgrown at the start of theonding programme. The work
therefore included significant elements of investign within this thick undergrowth
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2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

2.2.8

2.2.9

2.2.10

2.2.11

2.2.12

looking for potential structures or the sites austures which are marked on war-time
plans. This vegetation also resulted in the recmydbeing undertaken in a phased
programme with some elements such as Hayes Farnyg becorded long after the

completion of the main site works. It was also segey to undertake the recording in a
phased programme due to significant access isshehwnitially prevented access into

the main buildings until the development was unastw

The initial recording on the main airfield limgs (Stores, Operations Block etc) was
undertaken in September 2006. This was followeddnording of other structures in
April and May 2008 and the structures around Hasasn in March and August 2010.

Attempts were made to contact former employed® could provide valuable

information on the site and although there was seoecess in this there is likely to
remain further potential for a wider oral historyoect, possibly organised through a
local history group. The site was visited with RaétrHassell from the Rolls Royce

Heritage Trust (Bristol Branch) and Cliff Richard$io used to work at Filton to discuss
their memories of the buildings. The site was aisited separately with Terry Oxenham
who has also worked at the site for several decadesprovided much useful ‘oral-

history’ information.

Attempts were particularly made to find peopith memories and experiences of the
Sea Wolf Facility. Most of these proved fruitldast eventually OA were put in contact
with John Frankham who managed the Sea Wolf Faddit several years. Unfortunately
by then the facility had been demolished but it wassible to get useful information
from Mr Frankham through showing him photographd arplan of the site. He could
then discuss what each area was used for and idhahbtographs specifically showed.

A programme of historical research was un#étertdo complement the site recording and
to enhance the overall understanding of the sitas included studying cartographic and
documentary material at the Bristol Record Offitee RAF Library at Hendon and the

Bodleian Library, Oxford. A full list of source®usulted is included in the bibliography

at the rear of this report.

Two airfield plans dating from the 1940s wpagticularly useful, especially a plan from
1945 which included a schedule of the airfield #imigs showing the construction of
each structure (eg brick, concrete, hut etc) aedréfierence number of the standardised
building type in the RAF's numbering system. Frdmns humbering system it is possible
to determine in which year the designs were produce

A number of aerial photographs were also s¢&mnglish Heritage's National Monument
Record Centre in Swindon. These photographs rangm 1944 to 1989 and have
provided very valuable information relating to thevelopment of the airfield.

All the material produced in the current pobj(photographs, slides, site drawings and
notes) will be collected into a site archive angatsted with the Bristol City Museum
and Art Gallery.

The current document divides into two maictieas: the main report contains a
historical background to the site as well as atimidescription of the overall site while
at the rear is an appendix which provides a gazetté the individual buildings or
structures recorded in the project. Where posditsde numbering in the gazetteer has
been taken from the system shown on the 1945 plamdw numbers (eg OA1, OA2)
have been provided for structures such as Hayeas Rdnich were not numbered on the
historic plan or structures such as the Sea WadfliBawhich post-dates the plan.
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3 HiSTORICAL BACKGROUND

31 I ntroduction

3.1.1 As referred to above OA have previously urade programmes of research into Filton
Airfield and the historical background includeddelis based partly on that research.

3.2 Pre-20" century

3.21 The area of the current Northfield developmé&ails within the ancient parish of
Almondsbury (now Patchway and Almondsbury parishd®)e south-western corner lies
within the ancient parish of Henbury (now Almondshu

3.2.2  The earliest map which shows the area is tlimahce Survey (OS) 1st edition map of
1830. The map, while not detailed, does show Imglsl and areas of woodland. The
map shows two large homesteads, Hayes Farm (#efsithich has been included in the
current investigation) and Patchway House. It aterks a small building within the
corner of the Northfield area at the junction bedwe track leading to Callicroft Farm)
and the main road from Bristol which now forms #&&8 road. The Tithe Map of 1838
marks the building as ‘lodge’. However, apart fréitton House, which appears to be a
new build of the late 18th century, ‘it is unlikellyat the general settlement in the parish
had changed much since the medieval period’ (Ti®&man & Evans 2001, 2).

3.2.3 The Almondsbury Tithe Map (1838) shows theaaire more detail, with individual
buildings and field boundaries. Hayes Farm (ors thiap spelt ‘Haise’) is shown
comprising four large buildings surrounded by snpelldocks/yards. The map shows
Patchworth House (to the east of the developmeat)acomprising of two large
rectangular buildings. The Tithe apportionment kaathis property as ‘Patchworth
House and Sparrowfield Farm’ suggesting two sepapabperties, both with the same
owner and tenant. The Tithe apportionment indedbat most of the land within the
development site was in use at this time as pasitie occasional arable fields.

3.2.4  The Ordnance Survey 1st edition 6” map (183®ws little change within the area of
the current development. The map marks the appearaf a ‘Limekiln’ to the north-
west of Patchworth farm, within the Northfield are@h a small footpath linking the
two.

3.2.5  Subsequent to this map the nature of the tapesslowly changed from the agricultural
to an urbanised industrial complex dominated bydp®rt as the railways encouraged
growth of ribbon developments including some tegsaand large villas. By the end of
the century small industrial buildings started ppear in Filton itself including those of
the Bristol Tramway Company and these heraldeditheatic landscape changes of the
next century.

3.3 The Early Airfield (1909-1914)

3.3.1 The hugely important part that aviation playadthe 20th-century history of Filton
originates from the formation of Sir George WhitéBsitish and Colonial Aircraft
Company in 1910 and the establishment of their warkthe old sheds of the Bristol
Tramway Company (also owned by White) near Filtdlage to the south of the current
site. The aeroplane factory appears to have beeinsdant success and within a few
years they were producing several types of airaraftuding Bristol Boxkites and the
less successful Zodiacs (a licence built versidrth® La Rhdne engined French Farman
and Vosion). In addition Filton House was addethtfactory to provide offices for the
works.

© Oxford Archaeology Page 6 of 17 January 2012
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3.3.2

3.3.3

34
34.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.44

3.4.5

3.4.6

35
351

3.5.2

It soon became apparent that a field was mkeed¢he vicinity for testing and flying
aircraft and for use as a flying school and storagga. In March 1911 the War Office
ordered the acquisition of land c.1.5 km to thetmaof the aircraft factory for the
establishment of an airfield (which includes pdrthe current development site).

Although Filton House and parts of the aircifaictory remain no airfield buildings
survive on the current development site from the-@reat War period. One hangar
(Side Opening Hangar - see Gazetteer) survives datedy to the south of the
development site and although this was of a predesign (from 1913) it is thought to
have actually been constructed in 1917.

The Great War Airfield (1914-1919)

During the Great War production at the factexpanded enormously to meet the vastly
increased demand for aeroplanes from the Royah&lgorps (RFC) and the Royal
Naval Air Service (RNAS) and by 1918 there wererd3@00 employees.

During the war the RFC used the airfield tantmew squadrons and also at this time the
South West Aircraft Acceptance Park (AAP) was dighbd at the airfield. The AAP
received delivery of aircraft from factories anddartook their final assembly as well as
their flight testing and storage prior to delivéoyRFC and RNAS squadrons. Eighteen
hangars were established at the AAP and at itshhedger 80 aircraft were being
delivered each month from the site to squadrorfsamce, Russia or the Middle East. It
is believed the 18 hangars include three Great 8¥actures that survive today. These
are each immediately to the south of the curremeldgment site (see Gazetteer) and two
have been listed (Triple Span Hangar and Side @gdAangar).

Amongst the famous aircraft made and flowre veere the Gnome engined Be 2 pusher
and the Bristol Fighter or “Brisfit”.

The Bristol factory was now the major localpdmyer and workers were delivered to
special stations at Filton in great numbers. Dytime First World War the area changed
from an agricultural to an industrial economy ahd tpaved the way for the massive
inter war housing development round the airfield &actory.

Apart from the hangars little remains of thiestfWorld War aerodrome and there are no
buildings of this period within the current devehtognt area. The exact scale and nature
of First World War structures within the developrhanea is unknown and the earliest

identifiable surviving structures are 1920’s inalat

Towards the end of the war the RFC and the M&re amalgamated to form the Royal
Air Force (RAF).

The Inter-War Airfield (1919-1939)

After the war Filton was used as a demobibsatentre for squadrons returning from
France and manufacturing activity at the factoves scaled down. The likelihood of a
further war in the foreseeable future was considlerery remote, partly because by the
terms of the Treaty of Versailles Germany was dlowaed to construct new aeroplanes
or submarines, and in the aftermath of the wartamili spending was curtailed. The
Bristol and Colonial Aeroplane Company continuedmrtanufacture aircraft but it also
diversified into bus and coach bodies and motordard920 it changed its hame to the
Bristol Aeroplane Company (BAC).

In the early 1920s there was a increasingsegain of the importance that aeroplanes
would play in any future war and of the RAF genlgralThis was largely based on the
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3.54

3.55

3.5.6

3.5.7

3.5.8

3.5.9

3.5.10

assumption that France, who had a vastly betteippgd air force, would be the most

likely adversary. Despite continued financial riesions a series of steps were taken in
1923-4 to expand the RAF and its infrastructure &iltbn was one of a number of

stations that was identified for remodelling asghtier station. The development of the
aerodrome at Filton appears to have been largetiertimken in 1927 and date stones
survive on four buildings at the airfield from thdate: the Main Stores, the Lubricants
Store, the Transformer House and the OperationskiBlo

This 1920’s airfield typifies the RAF of theme, the surviving buildings are well
constructed and traditional rather than modermsstyle, avenues of trees and gardens
were to be found all over the site and tennis cowrére provided for the officers and
men. The presence of gun butts and a mortuary Yewvshow the more serious nature of
the site.

In 1923 a new RAF Reserve School was opené&dtan principally to train aircrew on
various Bristol types (notably from 1927 the Briddailldog biplane fighter) and in 1929
No.501 (County of Gloucester) Special Reserve Saumadias founded and permanently
stationed at Filton.

The airfield continued in its role in the laIO20s and early 1930s as a reserve training
school but the aircraft used for training were deadised across the RAF in 1933 so that
the variety of Bristol-built aircraft which had beased was replaced by the Tiger Moth.

In the early 1930s the RAF remained in a weeak position due to continued under
investment and the threat that this could poseh#éodountry in the future was finally

realised and acted upon by a series of initiatives) ¢.1933. This was the ‘Expansion
Period’ when great investment was made into the RABevelop its infrastructure. As

stated above the French airforce was already madgel than the RAF and it was
becoming clear that Hitler (who became Chancellorl®33) was rapidly rearming

Germany. In 1935 the government formally approsegulan ‘in order to counteract the
rearmament programs proceeding in Germany and olapse of the Geneva peace
conference initiated in 1932' (Trobe-Bateman & Bv/a2001, 3).

The BAC aircraft factories at Filton benefiggeatly from the expansion in the RAF and
by 1936 nearly a third of the world’s aero engimese made here. The factories were
enlarged and new Art Deco offices at New Filtong#®is) House were constructed.
There was rebuilding at the West Works but the meiffort took place with the
construction of the Rodney Works and the shadowofgon Gypsy Patch Lane. Among
the most important aircraft deigned and produceliige numbers at Filton during this
period was The Bristol Blenhiem (originally namegrtitain First”)

In contrast, although many new aerodromes wstablished in this period and existing
ones modernised Filton Airfield does not appeahdawe been extensively upgraded or
greatly altered until the outbreak of World War Two

One change that occurred sometime during #@slwas that the airstrip was extended
to the north. When the airfield was first estdiid Hayes Lane, which formed the
northern boundary of the technical area continwesi and the land north of this retained
its field layout. A photograph iRilton and the Flying Machinép 101) shows that this
arrangement remained intact in 1930 and thus tiding ground was the relatively small
area south of Hayes Lane and north of the railw@kis would presumably have been
adequate for the relatively small and slow aircfadim the 1920s but it not for the larger
aeroplanes such as the Blenheim being producdokita30s.

Another photograph Hilton and the Flying Machinéom February 1939 shows that by
this date Hayes Lane had been truncated and tsteiiis shown extending much further
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3.5.11

3.5.12

3.6
3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

3.6.4

to the north. The original layout of the aerodromees based around the assumption that
the site would have been approached from the east the Gloucester Road via Hayes

Lane so the truncation of Hayes Lane gave theagitawkward plan as the only access
was then from the west.

In 1938 501 Squadron was re-equipped withtdig (Hawker Hurricanes) but these were
withdrawn in 1939. At this time the airfield wadlistun by the BAC but in the summer
of 1939, due to the near certainty of war, it wag of a number of airfields officially
taken over by the RAF. It became RAF Filton andswader the command of Wing
Commander HD O’Neil.

Prior to the outbreak of the Second World W airfields of Fighter Command had
been divided into a series of Groups throughoutctihntry and each group was divided
into sectors. RAF Filton formed the principal alfl in Sector W, one of two Sector
Stations in Group 10 Fighter Command (the othetigtebeing Middle Wallop) which
defended the South-West of England. Filton was ifipalty tasked with defending the
Bristol Aircraft and Engineering Companies

The Second World War Airfield (1939-1945)

The early stages of the Second World war l@e®me known as the ‘phoney war’ with
little significant action either for the squadrdrssed at RAF Filton or the other airfields.
In contrast the aircraft factories at Filton wererking at full capacity trying to produce

as many aircraft and engines as possible. Variquadrons were temporarily moved to
Filton to defend the Bristol area before transfagrelsewhere and there was little action
other than routine patrols and false alarms.  bwédnber 1939 501 squadron was
transferred to Tangmere (although it later returtedrilton) and the defence of the
airfield was left with 263 squadron, another fighsgiuadron equipped with Gloster
Gladiators that had recently moved to Filton.

Early in 1940 the airfield was equipped witheav hard runway (E-W) and in June No
935 (Balloon Barrage) Squadron arrived at Filtoroperate a system of balloons which
were flown nightly and following air raid warnings.

The 'phoney war' came to a sudden end inuimener of 1940 with the Battle of Britain
when the Luftwaffe attacked airfields, principally the south-east of England in an
attempt to destroy the RAF and gain control of #®le. During this period the
aerodromes such as RAF Hornchurch and Biggin kilinf Group 11 saw the brunt of the
attacks and Filton's role was to allow squadroatioh and through providing additional
pilots. Hitler's failure to knock out the RAF led & change of tactics and in the autumn
of 1940 the Germans focused on industrial targeth sis docks, ports and factories. Due
to the importance of the BAC aircraft manufactoriéiton was a likely target for
Luftwaffe bombing raids and on 25 September ovér B@mbs fell on the area during a
devastating raid and the number of casualties wag igh due to two shelters receiving
direct hits.

This raid highlighted the vulnerability of tRédton area which at the time had no fighters
stationed at the airfield due to them all havingrbéransferred closer to the forefront of
the Battle of Britain over the south-east corneEafjland. However the following day
17 Hurricanes of 504 Squadron were transferrediltor-to defend the area (Action
Stations) and these aircraft were in position tdiglly repel an attempted repeat raid on
Filton in the following days. During the late somar and autumn of 1940 504 squadron
was scrambled numerous times in response to repbegemy aircraft in the sky over
Bristol and the surrounding area.
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3.6.5

3.6.6

3.6.7

3.6.8

3.6.9

3.6.10

3.6.11

3.6.12

Towards the end of 1941 a secondary hard rymnwas laid at Filton to increase
flexibility in the use of the airfield. The airfak continued to be used for a variety of
functions through the war and among the most ingparnof these, starting at the very end
of 1941, was as a base for the preparation ofafiréwr overseas use. The work involved
adapting aircraft with amendments such as fittinglaary fuel tanks into the fuselage.

The last large attack was on 11th April 1948w the wind tunnel and an office were

destroyed. Wartime aerial photographs taken sevoeyears later still show a number of

bomb craters near the airfield, indeed at least Invmb sites were left as open spaces
until the early 1960s (Trobe-Bateman & Evans 2(#)1,

During the summer of 1942 a number of grouatemtce exercises were held to test
Filton's airfield defences. These included ExerciBeunder, in May 1942 when the
airfield was ‘attacked’ by New Zealand Army Unitsdathe Somerset Light Infantry as
well as Operation Bogey when a large collectiontrafops were involved in both
defending and attacking the site.

Another important function which the curreetvdlopment site was used for during the
war was as a camp for the US Army Air Force (USAMARere American aircraft such as
the Mustang and Lockheed Lightning could be assednlafter arriving in crates at
Bristol Docks (Berryman, 2005). After assembly @iecraft would have flown out of
Filton to one of the "9Air Force's tactical depots.

The USAAF camp at Filton (American Air Forceat®n 803) was gradually established
following an American visit led by Brigadier HH Kmrein November 1943 as the IX
Base Aircraft Assembly Depot (BAAD, codenamed 'Glaare’ for telecommunications
purposes) and it was one of a huge number of girhdaes used by the Americans for a
wide variety of functions during the preparations D-Day (Operation Bolero). The
camp at Filton was immediately to the north of BR&F airfield (but within the current
development site) on farmland which had previousitained its layout of hedgerows.
When the Americans first arrived at Filton to stastablishing the depot the site was
described asa barren field, except for a row of tent@Vakefield, 1994). Wakefield
reports that the site, which initially had no etasity, running water or roads in the camp
area was transformed into a sea of mud followiravkigain.

In January 1944 roads were laid in the carnth wrushed rock, gravel and cinders;
running water was laid on and electricity was sigzpto some tents. Four huge Butler
Combat Hangars were also erected at the base.efuriprovements such as wooden
walkways and more electric lights were made in Babr 1944 and the camp grew so
that it could accommodate 1000 personnel from warigroups including the 2land
22" Mobile Reclamation and Repair Squadrons. The munalh aircraft assembled at
Filton steadily increased through the spring of4.94

The camp is identified on an airfield plaonfr 1948 as ‘Disused USAAF Camp’ and it is
very clearly shown on several aerial photograplwnfrApril 1944, just two months
before D-Day. These photographs dramatically steMogistical preparations with the
large area to the north of the RAF station covdrgchardstanding and crowded with
huts, aircraft and hangars. It is interesting etenthat the same aerial photograph also
shows a distinctive feature in the southern pathefUS base, just to the north of Hayes
Farm, which strongly appears to be the markings lodiseball pitch.

The BAAD was closed shortly after D-Day, imd 1944 barely six months after it had
been established.
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3.7
3.7.1

3.7.2

3.7.3

3.74

3.7.5

3.7.6

3.7.7

3.7.8

The Post War Airfield (1945-Present)

1946 was a period of great activity at Filiwarks and airfield. During the war far-
sighted planners at Bristol had seen the need fpost-war heavy airliner capable of
carrying 100 passengers on inter-continental joggneThe Bristol Brabazon was the
product of this venture, a very advanced and fatigriaircraft, which led to the

enlargement of the runway at Filton (resulting he demolition of part of the hamlet of
Charlton at its west end) and the construction mfagsembly hall, then the world’s
largest, and still used by BAE. Unfortunately, theoject was superseded by the
American Liberated Constellation and was cancehet®53. The South Gloucestershire
Extensive Urban Survey states thathough the company had diversified the late 950
was a period of declindLa Trobe-Bateman & Evans 2001, 3).

Also in 1946 the airfield was passed ovehoMinistry of Supply and the RAF operated
a reserve squadron from the site in much the saayeas they had before the war.

In 1957 501 (County of Gloucester) squadrors Wisspanded and the hangars then
reverted to use by BAC. For 30 years after théatisiment of 501 squadron there
remained a technical RAF presence at Filton withWmiversity Air Squadron and No 3
Air Experience FlightKilton and the Flying Machine

During the late 1950s and early 1960s durheg leight of the Cold War Filton was

designated as one of the RAF's V-bomber dispessed) presumably largely due to the
extension of the runway a few years previously. VhEorce was the UK's strategic

nuclear strike force and at times of internatioteadsion it was dispersed in groups of
either two or four aircraft to a number of basesoss the country in an attempt to

counter the impact of a pre-emptive attack. Dgyiine Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962

Vulcan bombers were kept in a state of readinessltan. The V-bomber dispersal area
at Filton was almost certainly immediately to trarth-east of the 1920s RAF base (see
Gazetteer entry OA19 for more detail on location).

In 1959 the Bristol Aeroplane Company mergét geveral other manufacturers to form
the British Aircraft Corporation which later becaipeart of British Aerospace (which then
became BAE Systems in 1999). The company opetadddthe former RAF airfield as
well as the large area which had formed the USAABeb Post-war aerial photographs
show that the site of the American camp was littéed, although in the later 1970s
through to at least 2001 part of it was used fasileé development.

Among the missiles believed to have been dgeel on the Northfield site were the
rapier missile (in the 1980s) and the Sea Wolfnffrb985). A more significant earlier
missile developed at Filton was the Bloodhound amefto air missile which was
developed by the BAC although it is not known wleetthe Northfield site was used
during its development. The Bloodhound was firgbldged in 1958 and was the UK’s
main air defence weapon and was in large-scalecgefor much of the second half of
the 20th century.

Some of the buildings on the former RAF sitenfd new uses by a variety of companies
under the umbrella of British Aerospace but by thé&ee 1990's due to increased
vandalism and lack of use, a large number of diffieuildings were unfortunately

demolished.

As well as the RAF flights the successful ®i8ritannia was tested and manufactured
at Filton, as later was Concorde. It was the erist of the extended runway and the
assembly hall which were crucial in the awardingtted Concorde project to Filton in
1962 (Trobe-Bateman & Evans 2001, 3).
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4 (GENERAL DESCRIPTIONOF STE

4.1 I ntroduction

4.1.1 Understanding the Northfield site and its dgyment is perhaps best understood if its
description is divided into a number of distincttas or themes which are partly
historical, partly geographical and partly funcabrirhese are:

- Surviving fragments from the pre-airfield, pre-2@#ntury landscape

+ the original airfield, largely constructed in th@?Ds

+ structures added during (or immediately before)3beond World War including
shelters, and various elements of the airfield mi=ds.

+ The site of the temporary USAAF base

+ post Second World War developments

4.1.2  As referred to above the main descriptionaafhesurviving structure is included in the
gazetteer at the rear of this report while theisadbelow provides a short summary of
the overall landscape of the site.

4.2 Pre-airfield structures

4.2.1  When the current recording was undertakenottig structures at the site which even
partially survived from before the establishmenttw airfield in the first quarter of the
20" century relate to Hayes Farm which was locatedhennorth side of Hayes Lane,
immediately adjacent to the area which was devel@sethe airfield. The main buildings
of the farmstead appear to have survived substhnitidact until the late 1960s although
they were presumably disused as by then the faroldimave been marooned within the
airfield. Aerial photographs show that by 1980 #rea had become heavily overgrown
and the buildings largely demolished.

4.2.2  The only surviving fragments from Hayes Fararavtwo walls from what was probably
an open-fronted animal shed, several sections mf yall and gate piers (see Gazetteer
entry OA1). The surviving fragments suggest that fdrm was probably of ¥8century
date.

4.3 1920s airfield

4.3.1 As detailed elsewhere the development of frifte a centre of aviation started before the
First World War and three buildings survive at Hidfield from the latter stages of the
1914-18 war. However, these are each immediateltsidmei the boundary of the
Northfield development whereas the earliest auifibLildings within the site survive
from the establishment of the the RAF base in 120%. Date stones on four buildings
suggests that this station was largely construictd®27.

4.3.2  The buildings and structures of the 1920seddfare grouped in a well defined area to
the south of Hayes Lane, the main east to weserainich pre-dated the airfield and
which remained as a public thoroughfare from Cbartb Patchway when the aerodrome
opened. The main entrance to the RAF station was fthe east and a new SW to NE
road was added within the airfield adjoining Hayese close to the entrance gate. The
new track divided the main hangars adjacent toaitstrip to the south from the rest of
the aerodrome’'s technical area and it now formsntlagn southern boundary of the
Northfield development site. The base was thenifsogmtly altered in the 1930s by the
northward extension of the runway thus truncatireyét Lane and necessitating the re-
orientation of the base so that the main approachldvhave been from the west. As
referred to above a useful photograph from 193Eilton and the Flying Machinshows
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4.3.3

4.3.4

4.3.5

4.3.6

4.3.7

4.3.8

4.4
44.1

Hayes Lane continuing east towards Gloucester Rumadss the area where the new
runway was later located.

The main 1920s RAF base was therefore lodatadroadly arrow shaped area with the
point towards the east and with several east ta wathways providing access to the
buildings. The main technical buildings were getigreowards the eastern end of the
station, the officers quarters and mess were tosvird western end, the communal and
barracks buildings were towards the centre andh#imgars were towards the south facing
the air strip.

This area would have acted as the adminigéraind logistical core of the inter-war and
World War 1l airfield and until the 1990's this sea of the site would appear likely to

have formed an almost complete example of a 1920isld complex. Unfortunately the

large scale demolitions of the 1990s removed mdrhe administrative and residential
buildings of the site, although a number of sulasidibuildings survived, largely due to
them remaining in use.

The main buildings within this area from th82Qs airfield which survived to be
recorded in the current project are the OperatBlosk (Gaz No. 44), the Main Stores
(30) and the substation/pumphouse (20). The lubticatore (49) also survives from
1927 but this is immediately outside the developmarea, close to the hangars.
Typically for an airfield from this period the bdihgs are carefully designed and are well
built with something of a neo-Georgian charactéeyare brick built with iron windows
and have hipped roofs covered with asbestos cefiesitaid in a diamond pattern.

A number of photographs have either been deduin books or are available on the
internet which show some of the former buildingsluding the parachute store (28), the
guardhouse (25), the Officers Mess (OA14) and B&ridocks. Although the area of the
1920s airfield had lost much of its original chdaemdy the end of the 2century due to
the widespread demolitions and heavy vegetatiowirave can gain some sense of the
former character from aerial photographs which stimevarea with planted and managed
avenues of trees lining the paths and roads. Fragnt# this landscape can still be seen
together with various small features such as p@aips, fences, gates and tanks.

Various concrete ground floor bases survieenfformer buildings which also provide
fragmentary evidence relating to the historic farhsome of the buildings. Among these
is the institute which was an important administeatblock close to the centre of the
technical area. This was a large building withobenplicated footprint and a combination
of floor coverings remain visible including lino,oa@den blocks, and floor tiles (square
shaped, diagonally set).

Other buildings from which ground floor basesvive include the WAAF Quarters and
garages, The Officer Quarters (OA14). Building Noand 6 on 1945 plan, the WAAF
Officers Quarters and garages (OA14) (tracesatite and wooden block floor surfaces
were visible together with a wooden fence and aatd gost survive).

Second World War structures

In contrast to the 1920s airfield, where thédings were located in a relatively compact
area, the surviving structures from the Second 8Vavar (and the preparations for the
war in the late 1930s) are generally more dispessatare located across the Northfield
site. The buildings added in this period were largelated to functions or concerns
which had only arisen in the decade since the coctidn of the airfield such as the
defence of the airfield from a land or air baseidakt and the provision of shelters for
airfield personnel in the event of an attack.
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4.4.2  Arange of pillboxes, defence blocks and o#ltarctures such as Pickett-Hamilton forts

4.4.3

4.4.4

4.4.5

4.4.6

4.5
45.1

were added to defend the main access routes intaitfield, field boundaries and open
areas from where a ground-based attack on thesldinfhight be launched. These were
positioned to form interlocking fields of fire witbach other. Presumably partly due to
their robust nature these structures survive radbtiwell. Another interesting feature
related to this aspect of the site is a small gorbrasure which was added to the one
partially surviving building at Hayes Farm. It wasmmon in the war for existing
buildings such as this to be adapted to form défenstructures. In addition structures
such as flak towers were added to defend againistl attack.

There survives two sleeping shelters withie tHorthfield site, each of which is
dispersed towards the edge of the airfield: oneatd& the western entrance (82) and one
towards the north (115). Each of these shelterddvprobably have provided shelter for
¢.33 people, probably principally airfield defens&aff. There are also several more
conventional sunken (or partially sunken) air rafelters for emergency shelter during
raids and these divide into three types. Along dlastern boundary of the site there
survive three concrete-arch shelters (OA10) whiehneaprobably principally intended for
workers at the adjacent BAC aeroplane factory. Tovamer YMCA building (79)
incorporates a small shelter adjacent to its engamhich had a flat concrete slab roof
while the third type of shelter is labelled 'Summégpe’ on the 1945 plan. These were
presumably named after the shelter's manufactundr they comprised a corrugated
iron/steel arch covered in earth. The best preseov¢hese is located behind the hangars
and would have been for the main airfield persorih2P) while several more (112) were
located to the north of Hayes Lane in an area wfoctmerly housed a series of wartime
barrack huts.

In addition to the shelters and defence atrest other buildings added in this period
include the Gas Defence Centre (40), the InflamemBtore (29), the 2-pounder ammo
Store (119) and the Gun Cotton Room (78).

Unlike the 1920s buildings the structures ddidethe later 1930s or during the Second
World War were more hastily erected with a utiliéar nature and less concern for
asthetics or architectural design. These builditegsl to have flat concrete roofs and
brick walls (or reinforced concrete for defensivibpxes).

The current study has involved considerablestigation looking for defence structures
marked on the 1945 airfield and although many Hazeen found and recorded there are
many features which the investigation has confirmedonger survive. Among these are
the dispersal huts (No 80 & 81 on airfield plan)ievhhad clearly been demolished and
left little trace other than a pile of rubble orskeaide of the hedge line. Other former
features include two defence posts on the cornanadild field boundary, which had been
cut by the north runway circuit and the defencet pdghe site of the gateway onto the
old Filton bypass.

USAAF base

To the north of the former RAF base there &y large area which was largely fields
prior to the Second World War but which was usednduthe latter stages of the war as a
temporary base for the US Army Air Force during thiditary build-up prior to D-Day.

Aerial photographs suggest that this filled theirenarea between Hayes Lane to the
south, the bypass to the west and the field boynttathe east. The triangular shaped
area at the northern end of the USAAF base houdaalya number of tents, shown on
aerial photographs from April 1944, while the maengars and store buildings were to
the south-west of this, adjacent to the bypass.arba further to the south towards Hayes
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4.5.2

4.5.3

45.4

4.6
4.6.1

4.6.2

Farm also appears to have been used by the Amermanprobably without substantial
buildings.

Today the general character of most of the afethe former base is of a disused
wasteland. The triangular shaped area at the negi-end of the base is now a grassed
area and there is little clear evidence of the égrtampment which was located here. No
buildings survive from the USAAF base but largeaaref hardstanding and dumped
rubble remain in the area adjacent to the bypassemiihe main hangars were located and
here there also survives various large pieces sting ex-situ plant and parts from old
vehicles. This plant has probably been dumped aedeprobably does not relate to the
American base.

Part of the area to the north-west of the naaiield, particularly between the American
camp and Hayes Farm, has been made up by abouat 1052 m using building rubble,
possibly from the demolition of some of the camfldings in the 1990s. This appears to
respect the field boundaries to the north and radht of the wooden Airman huts and
Ration stores. It also covers the site of semialetd houses and gardens shown across
the road north of the Officers Quarters.

Aerial photographs suggest that the parcehmd at the western end of the Northfield
site, to the west of Hayes Lane and the RAF cangs, @ither not used or little used by
the Americans although a track is shown througls #iea. This area is now heavily
overgrown scrubland and there is little evidencdasmer use. The only feature is a
double sided concrete ramp adjacent to the tradkhmivas presumably for loading and
unloading items from a tall vehicle.

Post-war defence research and development

Although much of the Northfield site fell inttisuse during the decades after the end of
the Second World War there were a small numberuiflings at the RAF base which
found new uses (eg the Main Stores) while partthefarea of the former USAAF base
were used by defence companies, particularly inlake quarter of the 20century and
partly for the research and development of missilée largest element of this is the Sea
Wolf facility (OA3) which was constructed in the anll980s and which forms a secure,
self-contained compound towards the northern enthefformer US base (but to the
south-west of the area of the former tent encampmen

Other elements of the post-war developmernthéformer American base include an
antenna testing facility (OA11), two turntables aadcircular road (OA5) on which
checks would be made to ensure vehicles couldveadectronic signals whatever their
orientation. Each of these are also believed t@lmen constructed in the 1980s.

5 ConcLusioN

511

5.1.2

The site known as Northfield is a large reduntdarea at Filton Airport which been
disused since the end of the™@entury and which is currently undergoing a major
mixed-use redevelopment. Prior to the developmemr@gramme of built-heritage
recording was undertaken as a condition of planaipgroval on the surviving buildings
and structures at the site, almost all of whiclatesd to the 20th-century aviation history
of the area. The structures divide into a seriedigtinct groups, the main ones of which
are the 1920s aerodrome, shelters and airfielohdefstructures from the Second World
War, and various post-war developments.

Filton has a special place in the historywét#on in this country and the current project
has provided a valuable record of an element af hleritage before it was lost. None of
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the buildings were listed and they were largelgtaindard RAF types (either from 1920s
or WWII) which do survive elsewhere but the invgation has considerably enhanced

our understanding of the development and evolutibiFilton Airfield during the 20
century.

January 2012
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Figure 3: Site plan from 1945, not to scale
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Figure 4: Close up on area of buildings, from 1945 site plan, not to scale
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Figure 6: Aerial photo from April 1944



Figure 7: Aerial photo from March 1946
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Appendix B

Northfield,
Filton Airfield:
Gazetteer of buildings and structures

Introduction

This gazetteer covers all the buildings and maincsiires which survived at the Northfield site when

the current programme of recording was undertakealso contains entries for the sites of some

demolished buildings where nothing more than cdredoases survive, particularly if these were key
airfield buildings the form of which is known froaid published photographs. However the gazetteer
has not attempted to list the sites of all formgitdings at the site.

There are also a small humber of buildings whickiehbeen included in the gazetteer which are
outside the current development site due to thgiificance and proximity immediately adjacent to
the Northfield area. These are all airfield builghnwvhich clearly historically formed part of tharea
complex as the buildings in Northfield and therefaithough they have not been fully recorded it
makes sense to include them in the gazetteerdw allfuller understanding of the overall site.

As far as possible the number system in the gaetiges the numbering shown on the 1945 airfield
plan although new numbers (eg OAl, OA2) have beakded for structures which are either not
numbered on the plan or which post-date 1945.

Each gazetteer entry includes:

* agrid reference;

* asummary of the phase of which it forms a part;

» an outline description of the location;

» the site type (condition/survival);

* Summary of historical evidence

» Description;

* Maplet showing location of feature within Northfiesite. This is sometimes based on the 1945
plan and sometimes on a modern survey;

* Photograph/s;

* Figure/s (where appropriate).

The table overleaf contains a summary of the bugsli

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 1



No Building Phase Site type/survival

20 Substation and pumphouse 1920s aerodrome Roofielthigui

22 Reservoir 100,000 gallons 1920s aerodrome Intaattere

23 Transformer House 1920s aerodrome Roofed building

24 Fuel Store 1920s aerodrome Partially intact stractu

25 Guard House and fire partyl920s aerodrome Site of former building
accomm

27 Armoury and Ammo store 1920s aerodrome Site of éordowilding

28 Parachute store 1920s aerodrome Site of formedibgil

29 Inflammables store 1920s aerodrome Roofed building

30 Main stores 1920s aerodrome Roofed building

40 Gas defence centre Late 1930s/WWII Roofed building

44 Operations Block 1920s aerodrome Roofed building

49 Lubricants Store 1920s aerodrome Roofed building

52 Side opening hangar First World War Roofed building

61 Triple bay hangar First World War Roofed building

73 Aviation fuel tank Late 1930s/WWII Intact structure

75 Single bay hangar First World War Intact building

78 Gun Cotton Store Late 1930s/WWII Roofed building

79 YMCA building 1930s expansion Site of former builgli

82 Western sleeping shelter WWII Roofed building

83 Pillbox by western guard hut WWII Intact structure

112 Gas chamber Late 1930s/WWII Roofed building

115 Northern sleeping shelter WWII Roofed building

119 Two pounder Ammo store WWII Roofed building

120a | Pillbox to North of Hayes Farm WWII Intact sturet

120b | Defence posts to west side of camp  WWII Partialigct structure

122 Air raid shelter (‘Summers’ type) WWII Intact stkure

OAl Hayes Farm Pre-2Q@century Partially intact structure

OA2 Flak Tower WWII Intact structure

OA3 | Sea Wolf facility Post-war Complex of intact burids

OA4 | Concorde Hangar Post-war Roofed building

OA5 | Turntables and driving circle Post war Partially\sving structure

OA6 | Pillbox to west of Hayes Farm WWII Intact struaur

OA7 Radio aerial mast bases WWII Partially intact ctinee

OA8 | Hayes Lane defence post WWII Partially intact ctinoe

OA9 | V-bomber dispersal base Post-war Area of airfield

OA10 | Air raid shelter (East boundary) WWII Intact stiure

OA1l | Antenna testing facility Post-war Various

OA12 | USAAF temporary camp WWII Site of former camp

OA13 | Northern guard house Post war Roofed building

OA14 | Officers quarters 1920s airfield Site of formeiling

OA15 | Site of barrage balloon WWII Partially intactustture

OA16 | Pickett-Hamilton Fort WWII Ex-situ structure

OA17 | Ammo stores by Hayes Farm WWII Partially intaictisture

OA18 | Barrage balloon buildings WWII Partially intaatildings

Northfield, Filton Airfield
Oxford Archaeology

Gazetteer of buildings and structures

2




Site 20: Sub Station and Pumphouse

NGR: ST 59862 80697 Phase 1920s aerodrome.
Site type: roofed building

Location
This building is located within the main complexte€hnical buildings a short distance to the nofth
the Main Stores.

History/background:
The 1945 plan shows that the building was constcutd a standard design from 1925 (No.2146/25)
although it was actually built in 1927 (shown bglae stone).

The building provided power for the buildings altéti The interior has been inspected and discussed
with Terry Oxenham who has worked at Filton forevaV decades.

Description

The substation and the pumphouse form two dispads of a single phase building. The building is

single storied and it has a rectagular plan (16 5<m) with the pumphouse forming the eastern
section. The pumphouse was partly for use by tfgcadt substation but its main use was to pump the
water from the large water tanks to the north | éwent of fire. The pumphouse is linked to these
tanks by various underground pipes.

The exterior of the building is constructed with English bonawn bricks (7 x 21 cm) and with
concrete lintels over openings. The two sectidrtk@building each have gabled roofs but that abov
the pumphouse is lower than that above the substafhe pumphouse retains its primary, diagonally-
set asbestos cement tile cladding (typical forrimée airfield buildings) but the substation’s rdws
been re-clad with a corrugated panel cover.

The south elevatiorof the substation incorporates a tall, wide dogrwhich appears to have been a
secondary (although relatively early) insertionsgbly to get transformer in). Immediately to the
west of this is an area of reformed brickwork anmg@@undant concrete lintel from a former doorway.
To the east of the doorway is a primary metal frdmvindow with 20 lights. The south elevation of
the pumphouse has an 8-light window and a doubbeveiy with a date-stone above showing that the
building was constructed in 1927. There are tweVents. At each corner of the building is a simple
brick detail comprising three bricks stepped owgupport the eaves. In front of the substatiortsace
electrical boxes which were cast by Lucy’s Fouridr@xford.

Thewest elevationf the substation has a large opening with rahertters (c.1.6 m tall x 1.2 m wide)
and a grille over the front surface. This openwjch is beneath a concrete lintel, is a secondary
insertion and is within a section of reformed bwokk from a previous opening. The concrete lintel
from this previous opening remains in-situ c.2.@lpove ground level. The opening is adjacent to a
fan within the building and presumably while thengeator was operating the roller shutters would
have been raised to allow the fan to work. Tortbgh of this opening is a primary 16-light, metal-
framed window. Two pipes project from this elématconnecting the substation with a diesel tank a
short distance to the west.

Thenorth elevatiorhas two projections from the substation: at theter® end is a primary projection
with lean-to roof and three small, high windows Mhio the east of this is a smaller (but taller)
secondary projection. The primary projection haga& of double doors in its east side and the
secondary extension has a single door and lar¢tedleents. Between the two projections is a fire
exit which was a secondary insertion but which gm&es the extension. The north elevation of the
pumphouse has two primary metal-framed, 8-lightdeims with horizontal-pivot casements.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 3



The interior of the main substation comprises a single rectanglan room and with a small
extension at the eastern end of the north elevattooh would almost certainly have been a fuelestor
The walls are painted (not plastered) and the fie@overed with ceramic tiles. The roof compriaes
simple metal truss and there is a small two-tonrlee@d crane/hoist which is set on an steel joist
running the length of the room.

The dominant feature of the interior of the sulistats the Blackstone Generator which is believed t
date to ¢.1936 (therefore c.9 years after the ocactsdbn of the building). Terry Oxenham believes
that the generator could probably still operate boivit hasn't done so for some time. This ism.3
long by 1.8 m tall x c.1.4 m wide and is set oroaaete base. At the north-western corner of the
room are two large air tanks with pressure gaugethe side. To the south of these against the west
wall are two concrete bases and on one of theaesecondary compressed air tank used to start the
generator. At the south-west corner, immediatelgtvaé the main entrance into the building, areta se
of large fans which operate while the generatouiming to keep it cool. These fans are not wwithni
protective cage (a secondary insertion) with acttinal frame to support a diesel tank above whsch i
accessed by a ladder. At the south-east corndreobtiilding and along the east wall are a series of
instruments, gauges and machines that relate tgatherator. These include a stand-by generator and
the main incoming transformer point for essentra aon-essential power.

The interior of the pumphouse has glazed brickthéolower section of the walls and unplastered,
painted brick above. The roof is again supportga Isimple metal truss roof (raking struts). Three
pumps remain within the building set on concretseaand above the two main pumps are simple,
manually operated 2-ton hoists on overhead stésisjovith chains and winch wheels. The floor is

principally covered with tiles but there are sunkleicts from each pump with iron covers laid over.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 4
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Site 20: Substation and pumphouse

Site 20 Plate 2
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Site 20: Substation and pumphouse
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Site 22: Reservoir 100,000 gallons

NGR: ST 59865 80721 Phase 1920s aerodrome.
Site type intact structure

Location: The reservoir is located towards the easternoéride airfield’s technical area between the
fuel store and the transformer house.

History: The 1945 airfield plan shows that it was congerdcto a standard design from 1923
(No.703/23) although it was almost certainly nongtoucted until ¢.1927. It is clearly also shown on
the 1940s aerial photographs. When the main pb&secording was undertaken it was almost
entirely obscured by thick vegetation but furthbotmgraphic recording was undertaken during the
development after the clearance of this overgrd@itt 08)

Description:

The reservoir is a large reinforced concrete witek which is ¢.15.5 m by 11.5 m in plan and is c.
1.25 tall. It is constructed with a simple reinfedcconcrete frame with horizontals at the top aaskb

of each side and verticals dividing each side a&eries of bays (four bays to north and soutleethr
bays to east and west). Between the posts areefuctincrete panels. On the south side there is a
short, central southwards projection.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 5
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Site 23: Transformer House

NGR: ST 59842 80733 Phase Probably 1920s aerodrome
Site type intact building

Location
The Transformer House is located within the mawugrof airfield buildings immediately to the south
of Hayes Lane and linked to it via a short linknheavily overgrown).

History: The building is labelled Transformer House on1Bd5 plan of the airfield and is shown on
each of the aerial photographs (the earliest dai 1945). The construction of the building is
broadly similar to several others at Filton knownhiave been constructed in 1927 and the building
probably forms part of the primary 1920s aerodrome.

External description

The Transformer House is a single storey buildiogstructed in brown brick in stretcher bond. It
has a rectangular plan (c.7.5 m x 4.5 m) and a@iatrete roof. The entrance to the building érfr
the north where there is a short ladder up the lhamk the lower level of Hayes Lane. The fact that
Hayes Lane, which pre-dates the airfield, is sigaiftly lower (c.1 m) than the Transformer House
clearly shows that the northern part of the arewbich the main airfield buildings stand was buit,
almost certainly to allow a larger, relatively featea for the airfield structures. The laddedéeto a
platform on the north side of the transformer howgh a primary iron security fence around it and a
set of double doors into the building. These da@sesbeneath a concrete lintel and are typicaafor
building such as this with ventilation slats to tbever half and signs warning of the high voltage
equipment inside.

There is a single window to the building (9-lighitl type), at the west end behind iron secuiys,
and in the south wall there are three rectanguketahplates bolted to the wall three brick courses
below the roof coping. In each wall there are ssv@mall, conventional ceramic vents.

Internal description

The interior of the building comprises a single mabom with relatively featureless painted brick
walls, a concrete floor and exposed concrete ggillinere is a low plain skirting along each waldlan
at the centre of each of the long walls theregkallow pier.

In the east wall there are the in-situ remains ofimdow which has been bricked up externally.
Although it only partially survives the window wasthe same type as that which survives at the east
end but with frosted glass. The window has a cdacsdl and lintel. In the north wall there is a
shallow full height pier and immediately adjacemthis

Within the room what appears to be a substantaisformer survives together with various other
related plant included a frame with truncated cabled a series of dials on a board at the top.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 6
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Site 24: Fuel Store

NGR: ST59891 80701 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type Partially surviving structure

Location
The fuel store is within the main complex of tecahibuildings to the north-east of the Main Stores.

History: The 1945 plan shows that the fuel store was cectstd to a standard design from 1925
(N0.591/25) although it was almost certainly adtuabnstructed later than this. The 1945 plan shows
the main fuel store with two rows of unroofed, easst bays and a central route through but it does
not show a structure immediately to the north @ partially survives). Instead the plan shows an
air raid trench in this area immediately to thetmoiThe aerial photographs appear to confirm the
evidence of the plan and they also appear to sloowe £mbankments around the store, especially on
the south side.

Description

The fuel store was a reinforced concrete strudtora which only a series of footings and foundasion
remain. The surviving features divide into two malements: to the north is a slightly raised cetecr
platform (c.14 x 8 m) onto which trucks would hal@ven and to the south are the footings from a
series of bays in which fuel tanks would have bstered.

The concrete platform is raised c¢.75 cm above theognding ground level and it comprises two
ramps ¢.3 m wide to allow truck access: one ranjpirsglto the east while the other is at right aggle
to the main platform on the western side. Thef@lat is heavily overgrown but some limited
clearance has shown that the northern side anddrteern half of the east side were faced in red
brick and were clearly formerly part of a buildiatpove the platform. The footings show that the
walls of this building would have been thick (50)cand they would have been in English bond.
Immediately inside the 50 cm deep brickwork is yetaof bitumen which divides the former wall
from the floor slab.

There may have been an enclosed (or open frohtelding on the northern side of the platform and
possibly a roof over the southern half where thieks would pass. Immediately to the east of the
platform is a similarly sized area of concrete hatahding which is ¢.40 cm lower than the main
platform and which was probably an external yard.

The main area that the fuel would have been storedjoins the platform to the south. It is difficu
to trace the full outline of this feature but itp@ars to have been ¢.30 m x 13 m and comprisedes se
of bays either side of a central east to west g@sabong the structure’s spine. There appearaie h
been c.8 bays to each side with each bay de-mdmkadeinforced concrete wall (¢.20 cm thick). All
of these walls only partially survive and many feining bars protrude from the walls. The plain,
utilitarian nature of the structure is clearly bisi and shuttering marks are visible in the baremte
faces of the walls.

A short distance to the east of the fuel storenisu@a of dumped concrete (probably from the former
fuel store) and general detritus including a sesieson props which may have been used to support
the tanks inside the former fuel store.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 7
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Site 25: Guard house

NGR: ST 59930 80702 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type site of former building

Location
This structure was located at the eastern corntreodirfield’s triangular shaped technical aréaha
junction between Hayes Lane and the main road ¢irdloe heart of the technical area.

History: The 1945 plan shows this structure as the Guardséland Fire Party Accommodation. lit
was constructed to a standard design from 1925 B@/25) although it was almost certainly actually
constructed later than this. The plan also desstibe builing as being of ‘permanent brickwork’.

Description
The building was demolished, probably in the 19991s) no above ground walls survive. The
concrete ground floor platform of the building daesvive although parts are now hidden beneath
vegetation.

Although it has been demolished the structure s bncluded in this gazetteer partly because its
form is known from a photograph (discussed below) &lso because the guardhouse was an
important part of any airfield. It would have besrthe main entrance to the aerodrome and it would
usually have been the first building that anyoniemg the airfield would have seen. Visitors wbul
have reported here to have their identificationgpapchecked and airmen stationed at the airfield
would have been issued with leave passes frombthiisling. Understanding that the guardhouse
formed the main entrance at the eastern end ofagétedrome shows how the layout of Filton
originally developed.

Fortunately some recording was undertaken on thidibg in 1993 (although the exact scope of this
is unclear) and photographs of it taken at thisetiane included in botBritish Military Airfield
Architecture and Filtorandthe Flying Machine The building had been demolished before Oxford
Archaeology undertook an initial assessment obthiklings at Filton in 2001.

The photograph iBritish Military Airfield Architectureshows that the guardhouse at Filton was a
single storey, rectangular plan range with a gaiolet covered in asbestos-cement tiles in a diamond
pattern. There were sash windows, a projecting tbeler on the roof ridge and an overhanging
catslide roof which would have provided cover whiigitors were processed. The walls were of brick
and adjoining to the north-east side of the buddiwas a further building which provided
accommodation for the fire party.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 8
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Site 25: Guardhouse
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Site 27: Armoury and Ammo Store

NGR: ST 59893 80669 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type site of former building

Location: The Armoury and Ammo Store were to the east ef tfain stores and faced the main
north-east to south-west road.

History: The 1945 plan shows that the Armoury and AmmaeSteas constructed to a standard
design from 1924 (No. 1386/24) although it was ahwertainly actually constructed later than this.
The plan also describes the builing as being aifyament brickwork’.

Description

The building has been demolished to ground levelthe floor slab survives together with areas of
footings which confirm that the building was fadadorick and which provide some indication of the
internal layout of the building. The main buildings c.24 m long by ¢.9 m wide (at its widest goin
and it comprised a projection (entrance hall?hatrtorth-east end. This ‘entrance hall’ had aypetrq
block floor which partially survives and was divitlmto two small elements. The main building was
divided by a main transverse wall towards the eeas well as several axial walls. In the north-
eastern half was a corridor (with parquet flooritmgether with another linear room to the nortfit of
and a larger room to the south. The western Halfi® structure was divided into five rooms each
with utilitarian concrete floors.

The building is clearly shown on the 1940s aerfadtpgraphs and it appears to have had a flat roof.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 9
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Site 28: Parachute Store

NGR: ST 59852 80672 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type site of former building

Location: The Parachute Store was located close to theecefithe airfield's technical area, in a
prominent location between the Main Stores, therGh@use and the substation.

History: The 1945 plan shows that the Parachute Storeceastructed to a standard design from
1925 (No. 2355/25) although it was almost certaadyually constructed later than this. The plao als
describes the building as being of ‘permanent lrark’.

In the inter-war period (and particularly from 19arachutes became of increasing importance to the
RAF and airfields therefore required specialiseiidings to not only store the parachutes but atso t
allow them to be periodically inspected and to badhdaily to allow the evaporation of moisture.
Parachute stores were therefore moderately largdinms which incorporated pulleys and hanging
rails, storage racks and packing tables.

Description

The parachute store at Filton no longer survivassbme recording of it was undertaken in 1993 prior
to its demolition and a photograph of it from thisie is included on page 32 @&fitish Military
Airfield Architecture The building no longer survived in 2001 when @#gf Archaeology undertook
an assessment of the buildings at Filton.

The photograph shows that the parachute store westangular shaped, single storey brick building
with a gabled roof clad in asbestos ‘diamond patti#les. There is a long dormer light along tioefr
ridge which accommodated the pulley and suppostngcture from which the parachutes would have
been hung.

The concrete floor slab survives (with some brioktings facing it) and there is no evidence of
internal partitions.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 10
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Site 29: Inflammables Store

NGR: ST59863 80648 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type roofed building

Location: The Inflammables Store was immediately to the ebdte Main Stores

History:

The 1945 plan shows that the Inflammables Store awastructed to a standard design from 1926
(No. 329/26) although it was almost certainly aljuaonstructed later than this. The plan also
describes the building as being of ‘permanent lrark’.

In OA’s previous assessment report on the builditgBilton (2003) this building was said to have
been the armoury for the now vanished guardhoudetsat the steel doored projection on the south-
west side may have acted as a gun locker. Howaeiter, further analysis it appears that this was a
misreading of the numbers on the plan and thaatheury (Building 27) was slightly to the north-
east. The current building has a number 29 paimeits main elevation.

Description

The former Inflammables Store is a single storey, brick building with a flat concrete roof. The
structure is orientated south-west to north-easthat it aligns with the road through this parttioé
site, and it has a broadly rectangular plan with $buthern corner inset. The interior is dividet in
four rooms: a large one (c.5.5 x 5 m) at the cemngair of small rooms at the east end and aesing|
small room at the west end.

It is ¢.5 m wide by ¢.9.5 m long (its longest edgajl its bonding is somewhat unusual apparently
being a combination of Flemish and English bonthn8ard courses of headers alternate with courses
of ‘Flemish bond’ (alternating headers and stratghe All the openings are beneath concrete lintels
and there are a series of slat louvres in the stexsawhich provide an indication of the importarmute
ventilation in the building. Thaorth-eastelevation has two riveted steel doors which ledd two
separate small (c.2 m?) rooms. Above each doarfiged-slat louvre to allow ventilation into the
rooms. Thesouth-easklevation includes a central doorway into the nraiom and above this is a
simple fixed-slat timber vent . The door itseltimber but this is clearly secondary and presugnabl
the original door was of steel to match those whsahvive in the north-east wall. The south-east
elevation has a crittal-type window which illumieatthe small room at the east corner of the streictu
and two further slat vents to the south-west ofdber as well as a further steel door (with slattve
above) providing access into the south-western rodime north-west elevation has two further large
slat vents towards the centre and outside thesetittal-type windows which illuminate the rooms at
either end.

The sign on the door to the main room labels thigling as the ‘Ambient Store’ although the sign is
secondary.

The two small rooms at the east end appear to haga used as a dumping area (now filled with
tyres, bricks, boxes etc) but on the walls of tleitls-eastern room is written ‘Ammonia’ and
‘Sulphuric Acid’ confirming what inflammable matafs were stored here.

The larger central room has a suspended softwamd flaised above a concrete floor slab. The
floorbooards are set slightly apart (to allow mare movement?) but there appears to be a skirting
below the level of the boards (down to the slab) #me boards are therefore almost certainly a
secondary insertion. Against the north-west wah isench of the same date as the floor and several
boxes and pieces of equipment possibly dating ftwer1980s. The walls of all the rooms are of white
painted (unplastered) brick.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
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The ground around the Inflammables Store is heawigrgrown but there strongly appears to have
been a set of protective earth banks around tldes sf the structure (other than the south-easf)fa
Presumably this would have the dual function oftgeing the building itself (and the flammable
items inside) from an external fire or incident ahavould at least partially contain any explosion
inside the building. The external ground leve¢sisoticeably towards the north and this bank neay b
partially just that the building was built into shbank.

In addition the 1945 plan shows a trench air raielter immediately to the north of the Inflammables
Store.

Immediately to the north-east of the Inflammablésr&is a concrete platform from a small former
brick building. A building at this location is sha on the 1945 plan but its function is not labelle
The building would have been ¢.10 m x 8 m.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 12



=z

\\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\FILAIRBS\Site 29*Filton Airfield*CDP*24.01.12

D

Al OS data reproduced by permission of the Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.© Crown copyright. Al rights reserved. License AL 100005569

Crittal

window

Key
ICEM Primary brick

Slat Vent

Slat Vent

1:50

Slat Vent 5
Crittal

window

Crittal

window

Figure 1: Site 29, Inflammables store plan



Site 29: Inflammables store

¥ 9€ld 6¢ 9)S

2L'10°€ L,dQO.PIRIIY UOHIH.SEHIVTI,\S8POD 8OI0AUI™ J\Y NIL} B SBPOD 8OI0AUNGIBAIBS\\

¢

Northfield, Filton Airfield - Gazetteer of Buildings and Structures



\\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\*FILAIRBS*Filton Airfield*CDP*13.01.12

D J

Site 29: Inflammables store

Site 29 Plate 6

p
=L

il
-

o !

bl >, B
]

A0

(o]

N

)

=

%2

Northfield, Filton Airfield - Gazetteer of Buildings and Structures

Site 29 Plate 7




Site 30: Main Stores

NGR: ST 59836 80652 Phase 1920s aerodrome
Site type roofed building

Location: The Main Stores is located close to the centrbé@téchnical area of airfield buildings.

History

The Main Stores was constructed in 1927 (shown tgta stone) and is shown on the 1940s airfield
plans as well as aerial photos from the same pevitdcamouflage-painted roof. The 1945 airfield

plan shows that the main stores were built to #sghs of drawing number 1255/25. However two
other drawing numbers are also shown (1718/24 /2334 It may be that the first number is for the

main building and one of the other two relatesh® projection. The last two numbers from each
drawing number relate to the date that these stdisg@ building types were first designed (ie 1925,
1924 and 1927).

The building would have held both technical iteramdll aircraft components) and non technical
(clothing etc). Equipment from the various miltadepots elsewhere would have been unloaded at
the rear of the Main Stores to allow them to beéeshriabelled and stored.

The building found a new use (or uses) in the pastperiod and this is presumably why it escaped
demolition in the 1990s when most of the rest & BAF structures were lost. One of these uses
(perhaps the only use or main use) was for the BpwResearch Centre.

External Description

The Main Stores is the largest surviving airfieldlthng within the current development area and it
divides into two principal blocks: a larger rangdtie west side (47.5 m x 20.5 m) and a smalle3(12

x 14.7 m) projection to the east side which app&aize an early, secondary addition. Both buildings
are constructed from red brick and they are siatgided, albeit with high, largely open-plan rooms.

Thelarger range has an M-profile roof with double gables at thetim@nd and a hipped return at the
south end thus forming a U-plan roof ridge. Betwtee gables is a flat roof which extends along the
spine of the building.

The roof is covered with large, primary diagonagt ‘diamond’ asbestos cement roof tiles which are
typical for inter-war airfield buildings such asghAs stated above aerial photographs show tleat th
roof was formerly covered in camouflage paint lgre is no clear evidence of this visible from the
ground. The roof has long glazed lights on eadih@imain north to south slopes and there is a ifow o
six upstanding vents on the ridge of the easterngfdhe roof, as well as a chimney at the sauthe
end, but there are no vents to the west side).

The red brick walls have regular but unusual cagrsvhere although it is generally of stretcher bond
this incorporates regular ‘piers’ where every otbaurse has three consecutive headers. This teflec
the internal construction of the building and tleadlers indicate the presence of projecting stralctur
piers on the inner face. These piers supportrlds ef the roof trusses but there are also sirpikns

in the double gabled north wall where there arérigs ends. Although the walls are largely skretc
bond they are more than a single skin thick. Tlannareas of wall are three bricks deep (c.33 cm
thick) so presumably the inner two bricks are bahdeross the wall to add strength thus leaving the
(largely) stretcher bond face.

Thenorth elevatiorof the larger block has two doorways each of wiiak a concrete lintel and blue
bullnose bricks to the jambs. There is a doubdatical-board doorway in the eastern gable at the
north end (humbered 16 F-2) and a single doorwawyedsn the gables (16 F-1). The door in this

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
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opening is secondary and may be contemporary wighstgn above the door ‘Sowerby Research
Centre Terrain Model Facility’ which relates todatively recent use for the building (detailed eor
below in the internal description).

The west elevatiorhas three door openings, each one now boarded tweards the centre of the
elevation beneath concrete lintels. The northestrdoorway has reformed jambs and is a secondary
insertion. Towards the southern end of the elewatire three large primary vents with fixed
horizontal slats and a large duct from an extraot flmmediately to the west of the south end ef th
west elevation is an open top concrete fuel oiktah distinct green and black line from former
wartime camouflage paint is visible on the wesvation.

The south elevatioris dominated by three large sets of top-hung rglidioors which would have
allowed the loading and unloading of items at #émd of the building from vehicles which would have
pulled up alongside a loading platform on which twors sit. This raised platform (c.1m above
ground) is created by the fact that the naturaligdolevel slopes down towards the south of the
building.

Each of the three doorways is flanked by piers witle bullnose brick edges, and the central doors
are set slightly forward from the side ones. Therd have simple sheet metal cladding and they are
fixed to small wheels on guide rails secured todbecrete lintel. Beyond these are doors set at the
lower ground level to separate rooms. The doortwathe western end of the elevation are double
doors, with vertical board cladding, with a conerkttel and the door number (16F-9) above thie. T
the eastern side of the elevation is a single @agatin primary vertical plank door) numbered 16F-7.

The east elevatiorhas two crittall type windows towards the southend and what appears to be a
lintel from a former window but with no straightifts beneath. The northern part of the east
elevation is largely featureless and with no window

The smaller rangeto the east is slightly lower than the main buitgiand its walls abut it, strongly
suggesting that it is a secondary addition, althoiignust have been a relatively early extension.
Similarly to the main block it also has a doubldigaM-profile roof, clad in asbestos-cement diamond
tiles, and incorporating long roof lights on allufoslopes. Both ridges also incorporate two
upstanding cowl vents. The walls are of red, Eihgtisnd brickwork. The east elevation is featuieles
but both the northern and southern elevations dectwo double doorways, each one at the centre of a
bay and with primary top-hung sliding doors. Thermoare constructed from conventional vertical
boards while each doorway is beneath a concratd fnd with blue bullnose bricks to the sides.

Internal Description

The interior of the main range comprises a cerdgpathe corridor which leads from the door in the
north elevation to a loading/unloading room atsbathern end of the building, and large formerestor
areas to either side of the corridor. The wallshef corridor are of brick, painted a turquoiseocol
and there are a series of openings which allowedsacto the side storerooms through sliding doors
with wheels fixed to their tops and set on steeher-bars fixed to the walls. Some of the primary
doors remain in-situ (particularly to the southbeif of the corridor) and comprise vertical boatals
the lower half and glazed lights to the upper ftalb rows of six lights divided by a mullion).

The area to the western side of the corridor imgles open plan room (36 m x 8.5 m) and this houses
an astonishing model which extends up to the briaks and covers the entire floor. This model is
believed to have been constructed in the 1970 sraB@ was part of the Sowerby Research Centre
Terrain Model Simulator. Patrick Hassell and CRiichard discussed on site their understanding of
what the model was for and this broadly alignechvisitformation gained from an aviation heritage
website forum ifttp://www.airfieldinformationexchange.org/commuyitrchive/index.php/t-143.htil

It appears that the model was built to test theenfadion of pilots in low flying fast jets and was
prompted by NATO fears that the Warsaw Pact mightaible to move large numbers of tanks and

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
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armoured vehicles well into Western Germany beftirey were detected. The landscape was
apparently an accurate model of the countrysidédawer Saxony around Hamlin and above the
landscape was a rail on which a motorized camemsam@aunted. It could traverse the landscape in
three dimensions at suitable scale speeds, lodkinthe metal model tanks which were moved by
cotton threads. At the northern end of the aremavsmall control room.

The steel framed structure which supported the casrend track is also partially insitu and comgrise
a series of pairs of posts against the outer wsalporting long steel beams spanning the room.€lThes
support further axial joists with regularly spadéhgs beneath.

Unfortunately by the time the current recording waslertaken the model had been disused for many
years and many parts were heavily discoloured bylanor by people walking over it.

There are nine steel roof trusses within this aesgh of which are formed from L-section steel
members with rivetted connecting plates.

The similarly sized area to the east of the corridodivided into five rooms which appear to be
largely primary although the two rooms at the setthend were formerly a single larger space but
have been divided by the construction of a bredeekbwall. These rooms are all relatively
featureless with turquoise painted walls (non piast) and presumably they would have been filled
with storage racks. In the room at the northerh tere is the outline of a former later™2@entury
partition within the room.

The southernmost part of the building, to which litvey corridor leads, contains a large central room
(11.5 m x 9 m), three small rooms off this arethweast and a separate room to the west whidhais a
lower level and is only accessible from the outsidibe three smaller rooms to the east were prgbabl
simple offices and a rest area whereas the cearteal would have been a holding area where items
would have been unloaded, sorted and labelled d&f@ing transferred to the main storage areas.

At the south-western corner of the building is amo(c.9.2 m x 3.7 m) accessed via the double doors
in the south elevation immediately inside of wharle ‘concertina’ style horizontally sliding secuwrit
doors. The room has unplastered brick walls (pdintellow) and a tongue and groove boarded
ceiling fixed directly to the rafters above the fr@bructure. The roof comprises two timber half
trusses which appear to be structurally entirepasgte from the adjacent room, divided from itaby
full height brick wall. The half trusses form angle triangle comprising principal rafter, tie-beam
raking strut and post immediately to the west & Hbnick wall. This wall has a ledge or shoulder
which supports the eastern side of each tie-beaite Wie western end rests on a concrete pad in the
west wall which is supported by slightly projectipgers. The truss members are braced with iron
straps while primary light fittings survive benedilhbeam. Two purlins rest directly on the backs
the principal rafters (without notches) and these supported by triangular blocks. Immediately
above the eaves is a further purlin which acts aalaplate. The timber is all softwood. Agairise
west wall is bolted the frame from four large formrshelves.

Patrick Hassell and Cliff Richard, who were basetha site for many years and visited as part ef th
current recording programme said that they remeetbeood workers for a time being based in this
room.

The interior of thesmaller range comprises a single open-plan room with a linehoée I-section
posts along the spine dividing the two bays angstmng the ends of trusses. The walls are all of
painted brickwork and the outer ends of the trussessupported on shallow piers within the walls.
There are three pairs of metal trusses and eatttesé is formed from simple L-profile steel members
with rivetted connecting plates at the intersediohhe roof has two main purlins (plus ridge piece
and wall plate) and while the inner face of thefrigoclad in tongue and groove boards with a long
central light to each slope.
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Site 40: Gas Defence Centre

NGR: ST59672 80555 Phase late 1930s or WWII expansion
Site type roofed building

Location
The Gas Defence Centre is located towards the swoeskern corner of the main aerodrome a short
distance to the west of the Operations Block.

History

The 1945 airfield plan shows that this building wasistructed to drawing number 9132/37 and thus
is of a standard type of airfield building whoseide was established in 1937. The building abAhilt
may have actually been built after this but it isac that it relates to the expansion of the ddfie
immediately before and during the Second World War.

In Oxford Archaeology’s previous assessment oftihiédings at Filton (2001 and re-issued in 2003)
this building was misidentified as thByrotechnics Store and Old Camera ObscuraThis
misidentification was a result of the building nuenlwritten on the 1945 plan appearing to be 48
when it is actually 40. There is a separate bagdabelled 48 on the plan to the east of the Quers
Block and this one is identified by Paul FranciBigish Military Airfield Architectureas the Camera
Obscura.

It is not known for certain what the function oéttbas Defence Centre was but it may well have been
to distribute respirators and other protective popdgint to be used in the event of a gas attacks It
well known that the threat of aerial attack onields (and other targets) using poisonous gas was
taken very seriously in the preparations for wad dn the early stages of the war. Gas
Decontamination Centres were built at many airfiefthcluding Filton) to treat the victims of an
attack and it is likely be that Building 40 formpdrt of the defensive precautions to lessen thaatp

of any attack. The gas decontamination centrell&ini- together with the associated sick quarters
were located a relatively short distance to théhmof Building 40 but they no longer survive.

Description

The gas defence centre is a single storey, bridkditucture with a rectangular plan (13.6 m x gy

and flat roof behind a tall, 10-brick parapet. Tdreckwork is in stretcher bond and it is a simple,
utilitarian structure with a series of windows andithe external walls which use the flat concretd r

as a lintel (visible as a band around the wholédmg) and which have small concrete sills. The
windows or hatches have all now been blocked beretlwould have been three such openings in the
east wall, the south wall and the west wall. Thera single window in the north wall. The main
access to the building was in the west wall whbeze are now two doorways but each of these has
been inserted or significantly altered. In thetihhem half of the elevation is a large doorway for
vehicles with roller shutters and beneath a seagnstael lintel. In its current form this doorwasy
secondary but this almost certainly replaced a ipusvdoorway in a similar location. This is
suggested by the fact that there is a concretk teadling to this location from the west, whictalso
shown on the 1945 airfield plan, and it appears tthere may have been an enclosed lobby or tunnel
leading to this opening. This is shown by the imipof such a former adjoining feature on the cotre
jambs of the opening.

In the southern half of the west elevation is sosdcdoorway. This is a conventional entrance for
pedestrians but it is set within a larger areaegadary brickwork and clearly there was formerly a
larger doorway at this location. This doorway agaas the imprint from a former projecting lobby
and it may be that one of these doorways was aareg and the other an exit.

The interior of the building divides into three maireas: the northern and central areas are larger
occupy approximately four fifths of the overalldloplan while at the southern end there is a naagrow
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bay with separate room to east and lobby to weéss.tWo larger areas are now partially united by the
secondary insertion of a large RSJ lintel into phienary dividing wall to create a 3m wide opening.
Towards the western end of this wall is a primapprevay which has been rendered obsolete by the
larger opening adjacent to it.

The two rooms have a concrete floor, flourescagtitéi and a minimal utilitarian character but one
distinction between the spaces is that whereawdtls of the northern room are rendered thoseen th
central room are generally of painted brickworkeTdne exception to this is the wall to the south
which is of secondary concrete block which appéatsave been added to create a new room (3.8 x
2.5 m) in the south-east part of the building.sTigiplaced a former smaller room (2.5 x 2.25mhén t
corner from which evidence survives in the ceilamgd in a rendered mid-height band to the walls.
Two safes remain in this area.
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Site 44: Operations Block

NGR: ST 59750 80546 Phase 1920s RAF Airfield
Site type roofed building

Location
Similarly to other airfields of this period the @pBons Block is located close to the main tecHnica
buildings, behind the main hangars which face dmeoairfield.

History
The Operations Block at RAF Filton is of a broadkandard design (1161/24), similar to many
constructed at other airfields in the mid 1920&nded to be used for up to three squadrons.

This general type of building is outlined British Military Airfield Architectureby Paul Francis (see
fig) although the building at Filton shows somefeliénces with the standard type illustrated in the
book. Although it is a relatively plain structutgg building would have been the ‘nerve centrethaf
airfield and it is among the most significant sttmes covered by the current study. A date stone
the south elevation shows that it was construgted®P7.

As detailed in the main historical background Filteas a sector station airfield for Group 10 Fighte

Command and as such the operations block would bega a part of the RAF's chain of command

during battles by allowing the commanders to phednitor and strategically plan operations. They
would have been in contact via telephone and tielegrwith radar stations, other Operations Blocks,
Observer Corps stations, Fighter Command FilterrRgdalloon depots and many other authorities
so that positions of incoming enemy fighters coblel tracked and squadrons based at Filton
scrambled. This complex network of information fednpart of the famous Dowding System of

Defence, named after Air Chief Marshall Sir HughaRiing.

All the processed information such as the locatiohshe airfield’s squadrons, as well as that of
enemy planes, would be plotted on large maps irOhge Room and updated as further information
was received.

It appears from the 1945 plan that by the end efSacond World War the Operations Block was no
longer in its original use because this plan laliislding 44 as'Signals Education Hut (Old
Operations Room)’Indeed, it may well be that the functioning o€ t@perations Block had been
relocated to a more heavily protected buildingwlere even before the start of the war

By the end of the 1930s it was becoming realised #fthough the 1920s type of Ops Block was
protected against sideways impacts they were highllyerable to a direct hit due to their light wetig
roof and that this was exacerbated by their locatidjacent to the main technical buildings which
enemy bombers were likely to target. In contrhst®perations Rooms constructed at airfields in the
mid and later 1930s were much more heavily proteetgh concrete roof and blast walls and they
were dispersed away from the technical site. Dubisosome 1920s Operations Blocks were relocated
away from the airfield and it is possible that thiss the case at Filton.

Description

Exterior

The Operations Block is a long, narrow, singleistbrectangular plan building and its relativelylo
horizontal nature is emphasised by the substagdidhen banks which surround it to provide it with
blast protection from sideways impacts. The curdeanks are c¢.1.5 m tall and they survive
remarkably well. The banks wrap around the fouesidf the building allowing a narrow walkway
between it and each wall, and on the southern thigiee is a baffle entry where an additional bank
provides protection adjacent to the point wheredl®a break in the main bank for an entrance.
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The walls are constructed from red brick (Englisind) and the hipped roof is clad in primary
asbestos tiles laid in a distinctive diamond pattgpical for inter-war airfield buildings. The es
are open with the rafter feet visible and thera isw rendered plinth. Towards the eastern endief t
building is a chimney which would have related e tasement boiler house in this area. The
primary crittall-type iron windows largely survive-situ with concrete lintels and sills.

The building is ¢.35 m long by 8.3 m wide and itnteresting to note that it is a bay longer thiae t

standard type 1920s Operations Block which Pauhdtsastates is 97 ft 9 in long (29.5 m). It is
similarly longer than known comparable Ops BlocksR&F Northolt, RAF Duxford and RAF

Bicester.

Thenorth elevatioris eleven bays wide (one more than the standadlmgk) and retains 10 primary
windows nine of which have 24 lights (with mulliamansom and three casements) while towards the
centre are two larger 36-light windows which wodldve illuminated the former wireless room.
Towards the western end of the building is a bldckemer window. To the east of the centre of the
elevation are two distinctive holes, one above dtiteer which would have allowed cables into the
central wireless room. These openings are ¢.20y20 cm and they are lined with a ¢.10 cm thick
concrete lining which would have extended throdghdepth of the wall.

The west elevatiorcomprises one primary 36-light window and a dodilevthe east elevation has
two primary 24-light windows

Thesouth elevatiomomprises a broadly central door with three winsldavthe east of this and four to
the west. There is also a further door towardsmbst. All the windows to this elevation are secoyda
replacements (12 lights) probably dating from tBés.

Internal description

Thebasemenhouses a boiler house and is beneath the east&rivan of the building. It is accessed
via a straight flight of stairs against the soutiilat the base of which there survives a primageg-
painted timber door with vertical boards to the éovalf and horizontal slats allowing ventilation i
the upper half. Access into the basement was nsdilple due to knee-deep standing water but the
door was open and it was possible to take a numwibghotographs. The walls are of unpainted brick
and the floor above is a concrete slab. Againsstheh-east corner of the room is a brick linednepe
topped tank but apart from this there is littlevéuing plant or features of historic interest.

The main interior of thground floordivides into a series of rooms along the northede of the
building as well as rooms at either end, linkedabgorridor against the southern wall. The layout
appears to be a mirror image of that of the stahdgpe detailed inBritish Military Airfield
Architecture(as well as being a longer version) and from ithis possible to see how the functions
shown in the ‘standard’ plan would have translat¢o the adapted building at Filton.

After the closure of the main RAF base the buildsayv some reuse and even in recent years it
retained a minor function related to a radio traittembut the building has not been comprehensively

modernised and it retains historic features. Thésvaae very largely plastered, there are suspended
flouorescent lights and there are generally plaim skirtings. There are no cornices and only very

plain architraves. The primary doors have fourrplaanels and the window sills are of timber. The

floors generally have lino tiles and there are mlper of radiators which are probably primary.

At the east end of the corridor are two rooms alibeebasement boiler house and these would almost
certainly have formed a store (to north) and waegl&legraphy (W/T) room to south, separated from
each other by a wall that is likely to be primar@n the west wall of the W/T room is a chimney
breast which served the boiler house in the baseamhwhich is also shown in this location in the
standard Operations Block illustrated Bmitish Military Airfield Architecture The primary parquet
block floor survives in this area although is hasiocovered by later lino.
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A sign on the door to the W/T room shows that Wés reused in the post-war period as an ‘electronic
workshop’ and inside the room there is a secondamkbench and an ‘airfield operating’ warning
light on the wall.

To the west of the W/T Room and Store would havenltee PBX (Private Branch Exchange) Room
which would have housed a telephone switchboardab#ilton this room has now been subdivided
into three smaller rooms: two in the southern halil one to the northern half. The primary room has
also been further altered by the removal of theheon half of the west wall to connect this partho$
area with the adjacent room (Battery Room). Th&XP&m would almost certainly have been an
open-plan space and the partitions which now diitideust therefore be secondary additions although
they are likely to have been relatively early aiddi$, potentially even during the Second World War.
The upper half of the partition between the lagam to the north and the eastern of the two sonther
rooms is a large glazed panel with two rows of fildged-glass lights. The glazing has now been
painted. The wall between the two rooms in the st half of the PBX room is a plainer stud
partition but at the northern end of this is a pladedoor (now blocked) with large lights above.isTh
glazing does not match the panelling in the norél @nd it has the appearance of being reused from
elsewhere. There is a further blocked door innitith wall between the small room at the SW corner
of the former PBX area and the larger room to iémn

To the west of the PBX was a relatively narrow rosmich would have been the Battery Room
although as mentioned above the northern half efethst wall between this and the PBX has been
removed. This room is relatively featureless altifothere are pairs of rails/bearers along the west,
south and east walls at ¢.1.25 and ¢.2.25 m abmeand possibly to hold plans.

The primary four panel door survives at the soutti ef the room, connecting to the corridor and a
sign on this shows that the secondary use of the rwas as a Store. The floor of the Battery Room is
of conventional floorboards.

To the west of the Battery Room is a large squdae ppom which would have been the Wireless
Room in the original Operations Block although #shnow been divided into two rooms by a
secondary, central, north to south partition. Tastition appears to have been a relatively early
alteration and the door at the centre of it hagmasaying ‘Crew Roon’.

The western room has a sign on the main door ftoencorridor showing that this was a ‘Heavy
Workshop and Screened Room’ and inside the roarlasge cupboard against the partition as well as
a workbench and further cupboard beneath. Theréwar distinct circular holes (10 cm diameter) in
the ceiling (for cables?) as well as several ssn&ibles.

The eastern room has four small boards on thengeilihich infill former cable holes and various

subtle marks on the east wall, probably from fortmeards. As referred to in the external description
there are two square cable holes in the north wiaith would have allowed cables into the Wireless
Room from the outside. Also mentioned above isféoe that the Wireless Room was illuminated by
two 36-light windows in the north wall, larger thdre other widows in the building.

To the west of the Wireless Room would have been Signals Office and although this area
essentially retains its primary footprint (albeittwa secondary wall at the south end) the forrthef
room has been significantly altered by the insartd a set of wire-mesh screens which form a 3 m
tall ‘cage’ inside the room. This mesh, which iearly secondary, is fixed to a simple stud framg an
presumably it either housed a part of the tranemitthich is known to have remained in use in this
area into the Zicentury or it prevented activities within the cdgem interfering with a transmitter
elsewhere.

The floor of the Signals Office in a standard 198®erations Room would have been c.1 m above
the building’s main ground floor height to matcle tlevel of the observation gallery in the adjacent
Operations Room. At Filton this raised structure bhaen removed to allow a continuous ground floor
but there are some features which appear to prdwadgnentary evidence of the former raised floor.
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These include subtle imprints on the side wallshef room (especially the west wall) at c.1m above
ground level and also the fact that the radiatorthis room have been replaced, unlike in almdst al
the other rooms. There would have been a shorcats in the corridor immediately south of the
Signals Office and again there are subtle tracab®mwall which may relate to this.

The west wall of the Signals Office would have beelargely glazed screen between this room and
the immediately adjacent gallery in the Operati®t®om. This would have created a visual link
between the two areas while creating somethingsmiuad barrier to limit disturbance to the opersator
in the Signals Office.

This screen remains in-situ at Filton, althoughas been painted over, and it comprises two rows of
10 lights/panels divided by three posts. The 1Btfidn the upper row are entirely of ridged glass b
at least four of the lower row are panels and predily these could have been slid up to allow
messages to be passed rapidly from the SignalseQidi the Operations Room. The screen is 5.5 m
wide by 1.6 m tall and at the northern end of tladl vibeyond the screen is a further hatch betwken t
rooms.

The Operations Room itself, to the west of the 8iig®ffice, would have been the largest room in the
building although it has now been divided in twoaryeast to west partition.

The Operations Room would have been where thersemtomander (and a team of staff) would have
been located during key periods and from whereifitiased squadrons would have been scrambled
and then commanded prior to them actually entesattje. There would have been a large map table
on the floor presumably showing the south of England the channel and (as seen in numerous
films) with counters or markers on the table intizg the locations of squadrons. These would have
been moved as updated information on the moven®whRAF Squadrons and the Luftwaffe was
received.

As referred to above there would have been a gatleraised ‘dais’ along the east side of this rpom
overlooking the plan tables but this no longer sy at Filton and there is little evidence of its
former location. The roof structure is entirely olned in the building but assuming it followed the
form of other 1920s Operations Blocks it would hhee a series of king-post trusses

A sign on the door shows that the former Operat®oem was reused as a ‘Transmitter Hall’.

In the standard 1920s Operations Blocks the OpsrReould have formed the end of the building but
at Filton there is a further bay to the west whigipears to be primary. As this is not shown on the
standard type building it is not known for certaihat the function of this room was and it may bt th

it was nothing more than a store or utility roonfA @as recently investigated an Operations Block at
RAF Northolt which is of the same basic type ag #id-ilton and this structure had had a further ba
added onto the Ops Room. However, unlike at Filos was clearly a secondary addition and
evidence suggests that it was added as a FiltemRtm ‘filter’ information before the key elements
were passed to the Ops Room). The addition oérHRboms appears to have been a development in
Operations Blocks in the late 1930s during the igreent of the Dowding Defensive System, over a
decade after the construction of the Filton buigliso it is unlikely that this was the functionthfs
room.

Conclusion

Together with the Flak Tower the Operations Blotkiiton is the most significant surviving building
covered by current study. The building would hagerbthe nerve centre of the airfield, from where it
was intended that military engagements or operatiwould be monitored, and it is unusually well
preserved with primary windows, blast banks, roofezing and various historic internal features
intact. The building is of considerable interegtrethough it may be that the actual OperationsiBlo
functions were relocated elsewhere before the SkWdorld War and that therefore the building was
never used for its primary purpose in time of wArplan from 1945 labelling the building as the dOI
Operations Block’ appears to confirm that by the ef the war the operations had been relocated
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elsewhere and due to the known vulnerability of(9@perations Blocks it may be that this happened
before the war.

Its layout and overall form follows closely the reflard layout of a 1920s Operations Block and it is
similar to a number of other surviving blocks. Amaihese are ones at RAF Duxford (Imperial War
Museum) and one at RAF Northolt which Oxford Aroblagy has recently recorded. The restored
building at Duxford is open to the public and giaegparticularly good idea of the historic form and
use of the building although in general the blakFilton appears to corresponds more closelyéo th
standard 1161/24 design than Northolt or Duxfotds lalso significantly better preserved than the
block at Northolt which has lost its blast bankma@st all its primary metal windows and originabfo
covering.
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Site 49: Lubricants store

NGR: ST 59792 80536 Phase Part of 1920s RAF Airfield.
Site type roofed building

Location: The Lubricants and Liguid Containers Store isated immediately to the south of (and
outside) the current development site. Similarlyptioer contemporary airfields it was located behind
the main hangars.

History
The 1945 plan shows that the lubricants and ligoigtainers store was built to a standard design fro
1926 (No0.329/26) although from a datestone it isvkmto have been constructed in 1927.

The building is on the south side of the road wHimtms one of the main routes through the former
RAF base and which forms the edge of the curremthifleld development Therefore the building is
outside the scope of the current proposals althdtugdis been included in the current gazetteertdue
its strong historical relationship with the Nor#ifi area. The building is reported to have remained
its primary use until relatively recently.

Examples of contemporary and comparable lubricames are believed to survive at RAF Bicester,
RAF Northolt, RAF Duxford and RAF Upper Heyford.

Description

Building 49 is a rectangular plan structure (c8.% c¢.3.5 m) which divides into two elements: the
eastern two-thirds formed the Lubricants Store avlile western third formed the liquid containers
store. It is a single storied red brick buildingtlwgabled roof although that over the western third
(liquid containers) is ¢.50 cm lower than that ottee main range (lubricants). The roof is clad in
asbestos cement ‘diamond’ roof tiles and theresatdarge upstanding vents along the ridge (four
over the Lubricant’s Store and two over the ligoahtainers store). There are long skylights on the
northern slope of both parts of the building.

To the front (north) side of the lubricants stgeiramp and raised platform (c.0.75 m above ground
which would have allowed trucks to park alongsidd for barrels of oil to be rolled off and directly
into the store inside. Adjacent to this platfograilarge door opening in the main elevation walker
shutters and there is a small, partially surviyigtice roof providing a covered area for loadingd a
unloading. However, the current pentice roof appé¢a be a secondary alteration (together with a
guard rail alongside the ramp) and this has replacerevious, longer roof structure. The previous
overhanging pentice roof would have been more ttveine the length of the current structure
extending as far as the eastern corner of theihgiland also extending further to the west. It ldou
probably have been the same length as the raiafonph (excluding the ramp). This is suggested by
slightly different weathering to the elevation amibre conclusively by a number of aerial
photographs, particularly those from 1944. Theahgvhotographs also show that the roof had
camouflage paint.

The liquid containers store was accessed fromge ldoorway (now blocked) in the north elevation

with concrete lintel and blue, bullnose-brick jang@sswell as by a smaller single doorway in the west
elevation. To the west of the door in the noréiwvation is a datestone showing that the building wa

constructed in 1927.

The rear (south) elevation is now largely obscurgdsegetation while the east elevation is totally
plain. The interior of the building has not beeersin the current project but as referred to altbge
structure is outside the current development siteisinot being directly affected by it.
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Site 52: Side Opening Hangar

NGR: ST 59838 80434 Phase First World War
Site type roofed building

Location
The Side Opening Hangar is immediately to the sofifand outside) the current development site

History

To the south and east of the aerodrome’s techares would have been a number of hangars facing
directly onto the open airfield and the runwaysnbkelves. Three of these hangars survive and remain
in use today for the storage of light aircraft aligh each is immediately outside the current
development area (inside the ‘live’ airfield). Ookthese is the Side Opening Hangar which forms
part of a cluster of buildings to the south of thad at the eastern corner of the technical area.

The Side Opening Hangar is of considerable intemssit represents the earliest phase of Filton’s
aviation history. It appears to have been consttuduring the First World War (c.1917-8) but isato
standard pre-Great War design dated 1913. ThisdMoave formed part of the Aircraft Acceptance
Park which was established at Filton during theetastages of the Great War and then after the war
been retained for use by the Bristol Aeroplane Camgp

Due to its significance it was listed by Englishritiege at Grade Il in November 2005 (DCMS list no:
319/0/10011). In January 2006 Oxford Archaeologgdartook an assessment of the impact of the
development on the setting of this listed structure

As it is outside the development area this buildiag not been recorded in detail in the currerjepto
but due to its proximity immediately adjacent te dtevelopment and the clear historical relationship
between the northfield and this building, it hasméncluded in the gazetteer. The recording has als
been limited due to logistical/security difficusigvith gaining access into the ‘live’ part of thdiald

in which this hangar is located.

Description

The Side Opening Hangar is a single storied builaiith a linear (north-south) plan and gabled roof.
It is clad in corrugated sheeting (partially sea@mydeplacement) but it retains some original winglo
and cladding. The structure is a timber framewmrkthis has not been inspected or recorded in the
current works. At the centre of the east elevaisoa set of full height, sliding (side-opening)ode to
allow planes to be transferred in and out of thegha and above this is a gabled pediment. To the
rear (west) is a lean-to range for offices, workslamd stores with metal casement windows and a
chimney. Small modern extensions have been addie aorth end of the building and at the south
end of the lean-to projection on the west side.

Aerial photographs taken during the Second World $@w clear camouflage on the roof but more
recent photographs suggest no trace of this swgvivéde roof appears to have had ridge lights along
both slopes but these have now been covered. |4dra@ographs suggest they were covered between
1980 and 1989.
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Site 61: Triple Bay Hangar

NGR: ST 59981 80635 Phase First World War
Site type:roofed building

Location
The Triple Bay Hangar is located immediately to soeith of (and outside) the current development
site.

History

To the south and east of the aerodrome’s techares would have been a number of hangars facing
directly onto the open airfield and the runwaysnbkelves. Three of these hangars survive and remain
in use today for the storage of light aircraft alibh each is immediately outside the current
development area (inside the ‘live’ airfield). Oofethese is the Triple Hangar (called General Servi
Shed 2 in previous OA 2003 assessment) which fgamisof a cluster of buildings to the south of the
road at the eastern corner of the technical area.

The General Service Shed (or Triple Hangar) isooisderable interest as it represents the earlggpha
of Filton’s aviation history. It was constructed tine latter stages of the First World War (1918)
forming part of the Aircraft Acceptance Park whighs used for the reception, final assembly, testing
storage and distribution of aircraft from varioastbries. After the war these buildings were regdin
for use by the Bristol Aeroplane Company and tmeh929 they became part of RAF Filton.

Due to this significance it was listed by Engliskrithge at Grade Il in November 2005 (DCMS list
no: 319/0/10010). The English Heritage Thematizeyrof airfields which initially recommended its
listing also described this hangar as being a waligwell-preserved example’ of this type of hangar
and states that hangars of this triple span formewaly constructed for Aircraft Acceptance Parks.

In January 2006 Oxford Archaeology undertook aresssent of the impact of the development on
the setting of this listed structure.

As it is outside the development area this buildiag not been recorded in detail in the currerjepto
but due to its proximity immediately adjacent te dtevelopment and the clear historical relationship
between the northfield and this building, it hasmécluded in the gazetteer. The recording has als
been limited due to logistical/security difficusievith gaining access into the ‘live’ part of thdiald

in which this hangar is located.

Description

The hangar has a large rectangular plan and it aeegpthree full-length east to west bays creayed b
80 ft ‘Belfast’ roof trusses. The external norttdesouth walls are formed by brick buttresses which
support the trusses as well as curtain wall panblsh incorporate multi-light windows. The ends of

the building comprise large sliding doors beneagelsbox-frame girders. Early aerial photographs
show extensive camouflage on the roof but latetgshehow that the roof was completely re-covered
between 1980 and 1989.

Internally the ends of the trusses are supportelrick piers and on the longer sides of the buddin
are low sets of offices or stores illuminated by #imall-pane windows.

Further detail on the construction of the buildisgvailable in the list description.
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Site 73: Aviation fuel tank

NGR: ST 59559 80538 Phase late 1930s/WWII expansion
Site type Intact structure

Location
The aviation fuel tank is located to the south-eesbf the airfield’s technical area within easgess
to the aircraft hangars.

History

The structure, which was probably constructed duonimmediately before the 2nd World War is
shown on the 1945 airfield plan and labelRualk Petrol (aviation) installation (48,000 gallonshe
plan shows that it had a standard RAF design fre8Y{No.3553/37)

Description

The aviation fuel tank is a large structure busihow very heavily overgrown with brambles and

despite attempts at some vegetation clearanceaondyy limited visual inspection was possible. The
tanks are of concrete construction and only thai, together with a number of pipes, are visible.
Two fuel pumps were exposed on the southern sidieeofanks after clearing some vegetation. There
are a number of (possible wartime) lampposts toweabove the site.

Aerial photographs show that the tank was a broeelijangular structure, with small projections at
the eastern end, and that it appears to have rethailatively clear of vegetation up to (and
including) an image from 1989. Indeed, its rogb@grs to be a much lighter colour on an image from
1980 than on previous photographs and it may be¢ tthe structure was partially (or totally)
reconstructed shortly before this.

An oval track encircles the fuel tanks and the @adgess to the structure is via a short track fifoen
south.
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Site 75: Single-bay Hangar

NGR: ST 59541 80434 Phase First World War.
Site type:intact building

Location: The Single-Bay Hangar is located immediately to sbath of (and outside) the current
development site

History
The 1945 airfield plan shows that this was to addad design type from 1917 (No.278/17) although
it is likely to have been constructed in the foliogvyear.

To the south and east of the aerodrome’s techares would have been a number of hangars facing
directly onto the open airfield and the runwaysiikelves. Three of these hangars survive and remain
in use today for the storage of light aircraft aligh each is immediately outside the current
development area (inside the ‘live’ airfield). Ookthese is the Single Bay Hangar (called General
Service Shed 1 in previous OA 2003 assessment)hwibitns part of a cluster of buildings to the
south of the road at the eastern corner of thenteaharea.

The hangar is of considerable interest as it reptssthe early phase of Filton’s aviation histdty.
was constructed in the latter stages of the FirsrldvVWar (1918) forming part of the Aircraft
Acceptance Park which was used for the receptioal &ssembly, testing, storage and distribution of
aircraft from various factories. After the war teeBuildings were retained for use by the Bristol
Aeroplane Company and then in 1929 they becameop&=A_AF Filton.

Unlike the other two Great War hangars this bugdias not been listed.

As it is outside the development area this buildiag not been recorded in detail in the currerjepto
but due to its proximity immediately adjacent te dtevelopment and the clear historical relationship
between the northfield and this building, it hasmécluded in the gazetteer. The recording has als
been limited due to logistical/security difficulsievith gaining access into the ‘live’ part of thdiald

in which this hangar is located.

Description

This large hangar is ¢.52 m x ¢.26 m in plan aral single bay wide. It opened at the eastern edd an
had buttressed brick sides supporting a shallowearcoof. The shed is lit by rows of windows along
the side. Timber “Belfast Truss” girders, with tHestinctive criss-cross latticed effect support the
roof. Along the northern side of the building iscav of adjoining subsidiary rooms (probably offices
workshops etc) and along the south side is a fugherter lean-to.

The east end of the building has been significaalfgred so that the six original doors no longer
open. The doors appear to have been fixed shuthaidlower thirds truncated. A much smaller
doorway has then been created towards the centtbeofvall which could have accommodated
vehicles but not aircraft. The partially survividgors (probably primary) comprise diagonal board
cladding (although a close inspection has not Ipessible). A further cladding (canvas? Tarpaulin?)
over these boards survives in patches.
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Site 78: Gun Cotton Store

NGR: ST 59450 80443 Phase late 1930s or WWII expansion
Site type Roofed building

Location
The Gun Cotton Store is located towards the sowstevn corner of the current development area,
close to the single-bay hangar.

History

The 1945 airfield plan shows this structure witreNo FCW 4430 and suggests that at this date it
was surrounded by a wooded area called Hayes Wibogbuld have been relatively isolated from the
main airfield buildings due to the fire hazard dine volatile nature of the stored materials.

Description
The Gun Cotton Room survives in good condition &nidhtact, although it is totally overgrown with
ivy and surrounded by small hawthorn and brambkhbs.

The structure comprises a single brick lined roanp(astered and unpainted internally) which is now
filled with old dumped tyres and pipes. The room.25 m deep by 3.5 m wide by 2.9 m tall and it is
set on a concrete plinth. There is a single metat thto the room and this is protected by a bhlzst
wall facing directly onto the door and creatingadfle passage (1.95 m deep).

Inside the room there is a short brick partitioteeding half way across the building and adjacent t
the door there are two square vents (¢)1 ft
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Site 79: Air Raid Shelter at YMCA Building

NGR: ST 59464 80549 Phase 1930s expansion
Site type site of former building

Location
The YMCA Building was located within the south-wexst part of the main RAF base to the south of
the Officers Quarters.

History
The YMCA Building is shown on the 1945 plan as et ‘permanent brickwork’ and with a
drawing reference 4967. The building is still shaswnan aerial photograph from 1989.

Description

The YMCA building had been demolished prior to therent recording (probably 1990s) only the
concrete floor slab remained. However in the comwrthe south of the entrance a small air raid
shelter survived. It had partly collapsed at itstin@nd and consisted of a partly sunken brickdine
trench with a concrete slab roof and lined stepdite into it.

The shelter is 2 m in height of which 1.2 m is abgvound and it is covered in soil and rubble. The
main chamber of the shelter is 4 m long x 1.4 mewnashd at the end of this is a smaller collapsed
section. The steps down to the shelter are adjaocetite collapsed section and the interior of the
shelter is substantially infilled with rubbish.
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Site 79: YMCA Building
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Site 82: western sleeping shelter

NGR: ST 59239 80571 Phase Second World War
Site type roofed building

Location: Building 82 is located to the west of the aerodrpaveay from the main technical area and
adjacent to one of the aeroplane dispersal areas.

History

The 1945 airfield plan shows that it was constridie the designs of drawing number 11049/41.
From the last two numbers of this reference we kitmat the design was produced in 1941 and it is
likely that the building was constructed in thisye

It would have been easily accessible for workerthatbase (probably principally airfield defence
personnel) being immediately adjacent to the rosablihg into the site from the main western
entrance.

Description

Exterior: Two above-ground sleeping shelters survive at frilidnich are virtually identical to each
other in design. The western sleeping shelteatsiandard, plain war-time construction with Esigli
bond red brick. It is single storied with a regalar plan (c.14 m x 3.5 m) and a flat concretd.roo
The main structural walls are 35 cm thick and atwest end is a 1.25 m deep projection lower than
the main roof which houses a lobby entrance (ptiveblast walls). There is also a further enten

at the east end through a lobby within the maim piathe building. Adjacent to this timber panelled
door (which is recessed beneath a concrete lirgghe faint trace of roughly painted letters which
appear to read ‘LADIES’. The lettering has beepligd twice: initially in large black letters anlgen

in small white letters on top. Presumably therefibre shelter was divided into a section for mae (t
western half) and a section for women to the east.

The east elevation also incorporates a high, tiribed hole for ventilation and the north and east
elevations also each have a series of small veleshai the base. There are no windows in the
building.

Interior: Good evidence survives inside for the historigola of the building. It would have
comprised a central walkway the length of the bogdand with five sleeping bays to either side of
this. Additionally at the east end would have badurther sleeping bay on the north side with the
Ladies entrance lobby on the south side. Eacheotleeping bays is divided from each other by a 70
cm projecting brick pier. The sleeping bays forsirayle space with the corridor and the only pantiti
inside the building is a brick partition which wduhave divided two full bays in the west half
(presumably the Men’s area) from the three andfablags in the east section (the Ladies area).e Th
partition would have included a central door buiydhe frame survives from this.

Each of the sleeping bays was 2 m long and woul& thad space for three 95 cm deep bunk beds
fixed to the wall. Thus the building could have@mmodated 33 people. Simple iron brackets which
project 8 cm survive in each pier wall showing themer location of the beds and as there are nio bol
holes in the brackets it appears that the bedsdamale simply rested on top. Within the inner fate
each pier (facing the central walkway), is a notislee bricks above each set of brackets which
presumably would have accommodated a rail the enfithe building to stop people rolling out of
bed. Evidence in the identical northern sheltggssts that these notches would have held blocks of
wood through which a long, small metal rod woulddhpassed. Another interesting feature providing
evidence of the former use of the building is apteérsystem to provide ventilation to the sleeping
bays. As referred to above there are a seriemalfl,sevenly spaced ventilation holes at low lsvel
visible on the exterior of the building. Insideetlbuilding it is apparent that these openings are
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immediately either side of the bed piers (but het partition dividing the mens and ladies areas) an
they connect to the base of a vertical timber lidedt which rises up to the ceiling. Within thedaof
each duct are three metal grilles to provide vattih to each bed. The grilles are each immedgiatel
below the height of the bed above. Each ductammtleep by 23 cm wide and most of the grilles are
at least partially in-situ.

Many areas of the interior show charring and eweéeonf fires (probably relatively recent vandalism).
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Site 82: Western sleeping shelter
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Site 83: Pillbox by western guard hut

NGR: ST 59149 80541 Phase Late 1930s/WWII
Site type roofed building

Location
At the western end of the site, at the junctiomleetn the main access track into the airbase frem th
south-west and the main Highwood Road (Filton Bgpas

History

This is shown on the wartime map and although therdhouse had been demolished prior to the
current project an adjacent pillbox to the nortithe road did survive in good condition. Prior e t
construction of the airfield this track formed thrain road north-east out of the hamlet of Charlton
and connecting with Hayes Lane.

Description

The pillbox appears to be a variant type 24, bstdraunusual lozenge shaped plan with nine small 6
inch square loop holes in it. The pillbox was baflred brick (0.24 m x 0.11 m x 0.08 m) with asfu
sandy cement mortar. It stood 2.1 m high on a @eadrase and was 4 m long and 2.2 m wide with a
door to the south from the side of the pillbox. Rém of an earthen bank against it survives which
met a concrete cladding that reached 0.9 m down the roof. It would have been for a squad of rifle
men possibly with LMG (Bren or Lewis) to cover thate entrance and interlocking fire with other
posts along west side of airfield.
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Site 112: Gas Chamber and air raid shelters

NGR: ST 59731 80843 Phase late 1930s expansion
Site type roofed building

Location
The gas chamber (together with four adjacent &rghelters) was located to the north of the ddfe
technical area and a short distance to the norttagés Farm.

History

The 1945 airfield plan classes the gas chambertesyporary brick (TB) building and it is listed as
being constructed to Drawing Number 1486/32 (i@ wesign type from 1932). The plan also shows
the four surrounding ‘Summers’ type air raid shslghown on the 1945 map.

Description

The gas chamber was a single thick brick strucsteding 2.5 m high with a flat fibre board roaof o
a timber frame (had collapsed). It was built oroaarete slab with bricks (0.23 m x 0.11 m x 0.08 m)
with a flush sandy cement bond. Two metal windcawfes survive in the sides of the building, but all
the doors and doorframes had been removed alorgtiagt end window. The whole building was
covered in ivy and brambles.

The shelters were all overgrown and the two eadtveast of the gas chamber could not be reached.
The shelter to the north was partly cleared andotie further to the east was covered in long grass.
Both these appear to have been filled in as n@eog&s or vents were observed. Later investigation
found the remains of the escape hatch on the marthest shelter. The shelter is in poor condition
and starting to collapse.
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Site 115: Northern sleeping shelter

NGR: ST 60284 81248 Phase Second World War
Site type Roofed building

Location
Towards the north-eastern corner of the airfieldse& to one of the entrances into the site and well
away from the technical area which would have lhBermain target for enemy attacks.

History

The 1945 airfield plan shows that it was constrdidie the designs of drawing number 11049/41.
From the last two numbers of this reference we kilmat the design was produced in 1941 and it is
likely that the building was constructed in thisaye

Description

The basic design of the northern sleeping sheftpears to be identical to that of the western sheep
shelter (82). is single storied with a rectangylan (c.14 m x 3.5 m) and a flat concrete roof.e Th
main structural walls are 35 cm thick and at thetweand is a 1.25 m deep projection lower than the
main roof which houses a lobby entrance (protediiast walls). There is also a further entrarice a
the east end through a lobby within the main plarthe building. There are no windows in the
building but there are a series of small vent hatabte base of each main elevation.

Similarly to the western shelter the interior o thorthern shelter would have comprised a central
walkway the length of the building and with fiveeeping bays to either side of this. Additionalty a
the east end would have been a further sleepingbaiie north side with the Ladies entrance lobby
on the south side. Each of the sleeping baysvigati from each other by a 70 cm projecting brick
pier.

Each of the sleeping bays was 2 m long and woule had space for three 95 cm deep bunk beds
fixed to the wall. Thus the building could have@ammodated 33 people. Simple iron brackets which
project 8 cm survive in each pier wall showing themer location of the beds and as there are nio bol
holes in the brackets it appears that the bedsdimae simply rested on top.

Within the inner face of each pier (facing the caimivalkway), is a wooden block three bricks above
each set of brackets with small (c.1 cm diametiecular holes in each. This suggests that a leireu
section metal rail would have run the length of blndding to prevent people from falling out of the
bunk beds. Another interesting feature providingdence of the former use of the building is a
simple system to provide ventilation to the slegpays. As referred to above there are a series of
small, evenly spaced ventilation holes at low lewsible on the exterior of the building. Insithe
building it is apparent that these openings are eédiately either side of the bed piers (but not the
partition dividing the mens and ladies areas) dmy ttonnect to the base of a vertical timber lined
duct which rises up to the ceiling. Within the dagf each duct are three metal grilles to provide
ventilation to each bed. The grilles are each idiately below the height of the bed above. Each
ductis 7 cm deep by 23 cm wide and most of thieegrare at least partially in-situ.

The northern shelter has a number of cracks imw#ls and similarly to the western shelter it has
clearly suffered from fires or arson attempts.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 34



\\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\FILAIRBS\Site 115*Filton Airfield*CDP*26.01.12

D

Maplet of site 115



\\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\*FILAIRBS*Filton Airfield*CDP*16.01.12

9P

Site 115: Northern sleeping shelter

Site 115 Plate 1 B Site 115 Plate 2

Site 115 Plate 3

Northfield, Filton Airfield - Gazetteer of Buildings and Structures



Site 119: Two-pounder Ammo Store

NGR: ST 59380 80488 Phase Second World War
Site type roofed building

Location
The two-pounder ammunition store was located tosale western edge of the main airfield
buildings in a relatively isolated position duethe explosive nature of the stored ammunition.

History

It is shown as being of ‘permanent concrete’ (P@)struction and designed to drawing number
9895/39. The last two numbers of this referenaggest that it was of a building type designed in
1939.

Description

The two pounder Ammunition Store is a small, squalan (c.4.5rf), concrete building largely
covered on all its sides by protective earth baike structure survives largely intact, althougfs it
heavily overgrown and the interior is flooded wihout a foot of standing water. Access into the
building is from the north-east via a concretedimamtrance through the bank with sloped top.

The metal doors at the inner end of the entranssguge survive, albeit heavily rusted, and adjaicent
the door there are the words ‘Standard C’ paintethe concrete wall .

On the east side of the main room is a small pumpnrwith a small cylindrical boiler albeit largely
below the current water line.

The interior of the main room has exposed concwtls and there is a pair of pipes extending
horizontally around the walls. The ceiling is ofnferced concrete and at the centre is a singl lig

fitting.
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Site 120a: Pillboxes

NGR: S 59749 81001 Phase Second World War defences
Site type Intact structure

Location

There are two pillboxes located in this generahace200 m - 250 m north of Hayes Farm, along the
field boundary which would have formed the edgetls# airfield when the pillboxes were first
constructed.

They are located to either side of the field boupdajunction between the north to south hedgerow
leading down to Hayes Farm and the east to wegjdned which extends towards the Filton bypass.
One of the pillboxes would have been at the noatern corner of the lower field while the other
would have been at the south-eastern corner afiper field.

History

These would have formed part of the series ofbmies and other structures which were constructed
around the airfield’s perimeter to defend it fronygotential land-based attack. They were probably
hastily erected in the summer of 1940 as part efrtfassive programme of similar defences erected
across the country as the Government came to fallyise the unpreparedness to counter the Nazi
threat. In particular the possibility that airfisldvould be a key target for the Germans came to be
appreciated in the spring of 1940 through the Bilieg tactics used on the continent, and thatedit$i
would have to be defended against land-based attack

Following the establishment of the USAAF camp witthese fields in 1944 the pillboxes would have
effectively been within the expanded military edistbment rather than on the boundary.

Description

The better preserved of the two pillboxes, at thelseastern corner of the upper field, is of thei®

Air Ministry Norcon type constructed from a conergtipe with loopholes in the walls. The structure
survives in relatively good condition, althoughstnow partially buried and the trench on the south
side which provided access to the pillbox has suttistlly collapsed. This access trench was covered
by a 12 cm thick concrete slab. The structure®§ 2n in diameter and it has a 24 cm thick concrete
roof now partially covered by earth. Inside thelbgik there is a circular brick ‘firing step’
immediately inside the walls as well as a furthecle of bricks at the centre. The concrete pipseis

on a brick base 6 courses tall with the seventhdaiits edge to fill the pipe cap. A 4 inch drpipe
beneath the pillbox carries water away from thacstire towards the north-east. The structure would
have been given extra protection by sandbags plkaeod the exterior.

The other pillbox, located at the north-eastermepof the lower field was a Type 26 square comlcret
pillbox, which appears to have been blown ontoadtsf in the post-war period. This was marked on
the 1945 map and shown on the 1944 AP’s and mag heagn camouflaged with dry stonewalling to
appear like a farm building as a large number afistrubble lays around the site.
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Figure 1: Site 120a, pillbox



Site 120a: Pillbox to north of Hayes Farm
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Site 120b: Defence Posts

NGR: ST 59253 80578 & ST 59368 80656 Phase Second World War defences
Site type partially intact structures

Location: These are two partially surviving defence poststhan southern side of the looped road
which led down from the west end of Hayes Lane tawdhe Filton bypass. One of the structures is
towards the western end of the road while the athawards the eastern end.

History

These two defence posts would have formed patteosystem of airfield defence which was probably
constructed in 1940 to counter the threat from Geryn From the spring of 1940 it rapidly became
appreciated that airfields would be a key targetlie Nazis and that preparations should be made fo
possible land-based attacks as well as aerialkattac

This route would have formed the main entrance ih® camp from the 1930s following the
truncation of Hayes Lane immediately east of thred@®me to allow for the new longer runway.

Description

The western of the two defence posts is locatedediately north from the western sleeping shelter
(Building 82) and comprises the remains of a sro@tlular brick defence post situated on a small
mound. The structure is brick built (11 courseghhiand with a possible ammunition locker at the
rear (Im x 0.8 mx 0.7 m) and a concrete slab. foais was probably the site of a Light Anti Airftra
position or watch post and although it is totalbwered in ivy and small trees it is just visible.

Only very fragmentary remains survive from the eastfeature (towards the junction with Hayes
Lane) but it appears to be labelled as a Defenst &tothe 1945 plan. The feature could be barely
observed in the undergrowth but 12 inches of the lerck wall (possibly with a window) could be
seen.
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Site 122: Air raid shelter (‘Summers’ type)

NGR: ST 59729 80503 Phase Second World War
Site type: intact structure

Location
At the southern edge of the airfield’s technicaaais a ‘Summers’ type shelter on the opposite alide
the road from the Operations Block. This is owddite current development site

History

This air raid shelter is shown on the 1945 plam &immers Type shelter (ref 2091/39) and the key
shows that it was constructed from steel. It kglii that the name of the shelter comes from the
company that manufactured and supplied this typshedter. This shelter was clearly constructed
immediately before or during the early stages ef $lecond World War to provide shelter for airfield
personnel.

Description

This structure is a surface air raid shelter witkiraple rectangular plan (internal dimensions 8.2 m
long, 2.8 m wide and 1.8 m high) formed by a coatad iron/steel arch, painted white and entirely
covered by 70 cm thick earth banks. There is aomar entrance lobby at the east end with a
concrete slab roof and a short (2.4 m long), blilnkd entrance passage at right angles to the main
body of the shelter. At the inner end of this lajséd entrance passage is a metal door. At the neste
end of the shelter is a blank corrugated iron/stesl with an escape hatch directly above (0.62m x
0.78 m) to which access is possible via a simple-fined ladder. The floor of the shelter is of
concrete.

The structure survives in relatively good conditeomd the interior was partially accessible although
trees have damaged the entrance and the escapéhhdtcollapsed.
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Figure 1: Site 122, Summers type shelter



Site 1202: Air raid shelter (Summers type)
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Site OAl: Hayes Farm

NGR: ST 59704 80786 Phase Pre-20th century
Site type partially surviving building

Location
The buildings of Hayes Farm were located immedyjateitside the RAF base, on the north side of
Hayes Lane.

Introduction
Hayes Farm is the main complex of buildings (allseibstantially demolished prior to the current
recording) on the development site to pre-dat&@ib-century airfield.

When the initial 2006 phase of recording was uraden in the current project the thick vegetation
which covered the former farmstead prevented alrapngtaccess into this area. This vegetation was
partially cleared in October 2009 (particularlytive areas surrounding the structures rather ttoan fr
the structures themselves) and then more substartdiaing the winter. The remains of the former
buildings were then recorded in early March 201fbigethe re-growth of the vegetation. Watching
brief recording was also undertaken in August 20hlle the structures were taken down ‘to knee
height’ (for safety reasons) and while other lirditetrusive works were undertaken. This area is
being left as an open space in the current devedaopso surface remains have been left in-situ. The
intrusive work was also limited by the need to awtisturbing tree roots.

Known history

Hayes Farm is first shown on the Ordnance Survep wia1830 as a large farmstead. The
Almonsbury Tithe map of 1838 labels the compleXase Farm and shows it comprising four large
buildings surrounded by small paddocks/yards.

An airfield plan from 1945 shows that the farm ramad just outside the airfield boundary during the
Second World War with several fields to the nontid avest of the farmstead. Another air ministry
plan from 1948 shows that these fields had beed usthe very latter stages of the war as a United
States Air Force camp (although it was by that dégesed) but the farm buildings are shown intact
and still labelledHayes Farm

Aerial photographs from the 1940s show the builsiagd provide some indication of their form. The
farmhouse appears to have been the southernmddgihigun the complex and to have been an east to
west orientated structure facing Hayes Lane. Tammast to west range of the farmhouse comprised
two main elements: the eastern two-thirds appeanste been two storied and with three small south-
facing gables while the western third is lower @bly single storey). Adjoining to the rear of the
farmhouse was a small range (probably lean-toheoetastern half of the north face. To the north of
the farmhouse was the farmyard with what appealat@ been a gabled barn on the east side, with
west facing porch towards the northern end of thigdding, and what may have been a stables (or
animal shelter) along the north side. This sheitas also gabled and its south face comprisedi@sser
of narrow bays. The farm also comprised several land more ephemeral buildings to the north and
east.

Several aerial photos from the post-war era sugtpedtthe farm buildings partially (or possibly

entirely) survived into the late 1960s (they arevsh on an AP from 1968) but that they may well
have become disused. The area surrounding thelinmgsl appears to have started becoming
overgrown by 1968 and by 1980 it is heavily ovevgrqwith the farm buildings having been largely

demolished).

The evidence of the partially surviving structusegygests that the farm buildings were probably
constructed in the 18th or early 19th century.
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Description

As stated above historic maps and photographs gosi good indication of the layout of the
farmstead at Hayes Farm. The main house was locadident to Hayes Lane and immediately
behind this was a farmyard with the main rangesttan northern and eastern sides. The eastern
building appears to have been the larger of the imamrporating a wagon porch towards the northern
end of the west side, and was almost certainlyntag barn. The yard also appears to have included
two animal runs enclosed by walls between the mamges and accessed from the smaller northern
range which was almost certainly a long open-fréraaimal shelter. An access track branched off
from Hayes Lane and provided a route to the yatinoethe house before continuing on and rejoining
Hayes Lane beyond the farmstead. There were &geral other farm buildings in the vicinity,
particularly several to the east outside the maimyard.

Nothing substantial appears to survive today algreeind from the farmhouse although when the
recording was undertaken this area still retair@desvegetation cover so it may be that low footings
remain at the surface. Any such remains in thia ané be left in-situ in the current development.

Similarly there is no surviving trace of the proleabarn on the eastern side of the former farmyard
but remains do survive from the probable animaltehehich formed the north side of the yard. The
western gable survives substantially intact froms thuilding (3.7 m wide) together with part of the
northern wall. It is possible to trace the northesall for almost its entire length but whereastsa t
western end it is close to full height towards ¢last it drops down to ground level. There is na sify

a southern wall to this building which supports badief that it was open fronted and related to the
adjacent enclosed animal runs.

The walls are constructed from long, relativelyt fln-dressed stone, roughly coursed and with a
wide variety of sizes. Both the internal and exé¢faces were limewashed.

The walls are largely featureless with no evideoican upper floor to the former building and little
evidence of windows or door openings. There wam@les door towards the north end of the gabled
western elevation although this has now been édfilvith concrete blocks. A gun embrasure has been
inserted within this wall (detailed further below).

The wall which formed the western side of the yalsb substantially survived extending southwards
in an alignment with the gable of the former animsla¢lter. This survives for ¢.11m, from a straight
joint with the shelter, although a 4.5 m sectiortha wall has been replaced by an iron railing éenc
There is a gate pier (fallen) at the northern ehdhe railings. Minor vegetation clearance in the
current project revealed that a stone foundatiamticoned beneath the iron railing suggesting that a
stone wall formerly extended along the entire vgéd of the yard.

The floor of the animal shelter is a concrete slad much of this has been left in situ in the enirr
development (particularly to avoid disturbing rgots

Several fragments from an earlier floor have begrosed during the works within the former yard to
the south of the animal shelter, particularly adjado the partially surviving western yard wall.

Although only small areas of it were exposed tlwoiflappears to have extended between ¢.5.95 m
south of the animal shelter's north wall and 9.8auth of it. Two main areas were exposed adjacent
to the west wall (one towards the southern endamtowards the northern end) and both were of
similar construction. The floor was formed fromdis roughly laid in rows rather than with an
overlapping bond and most of the bricks appearedet@f 19th century date. The bricks were of
various types (eg yellow, red/orange, blue/blaakdl ¢he floor appears to have been formed with
whatever bricks were available at the farm. Sondepalving stones are also mixed into the floor and
at their western end the bricks abut the lower pfithe stone wall.
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The brick floor appears to terminate at the soutlesd of the area (ie ¢.9.6 m to the south of thréhn
wall of the animal shelter) and this broadly coites with the southern end of the west garden wall.
As referred to above to the south of this pointythidl wall has been replaced by an iron fence.

At the northern end of the former floor the areaped clear extended slightly further north and thi
exposed a distinct area of ash/coal (c.40 cm sgmjeidiately north of the brick paving. It may bettha
this related to a small blacksmiths hearth in émea. This floor was not exposed more fully beeau
it was not being removed or directly impacted ia tlevelopment.

There are several surviving sets of gate piersfiagnents from other walls in the general viciroty
Hayes Farm. Two of the sets of piers are at eiéimet of the curved track into the farmyard from
Hayes Lane. Those at the western end of the tnack.60 m to the south-west of the surviving gable
while those at the eastern end are c.47 m fromgdide. The piers to the west are of stone and
relatively plain while those to the east are mogeadative with long vertical tooling marks, a gathi
arched top and a benchmark towards the base. Bheralso fragmentary remains of further piers at
the north-western corner of the farmyard, fromagkrwhich would have extended north-west along
the field boundary.

Military features within Hayes Farm

Within the general vicinity of Hayes Farm there aremumber of surviving features relating to the
Second World War. Some of these are detailed elsenih the gazetteer (eg OA6, OA17, OA18) but
in addition to this there are two other more mifeatures of interest. One of these is a gun loop or
embrasure which was inserted into the partiallyisurg north wall of the former animal shelter &t i
very western end. This position overlooks the ofseld to the north and the loop must have been
added during the Second World War to add to tHeekirdefences.

The embrasure, which is set immediately above gtdewel, is 70 cm wide by 25 cm tall and it has an
iron bar lintel. The jambs of the opening are stbpad both these, and the area immediately abeve th
lintel, are covered by a cement render. The embedsas not been roughly infilled. It was a common
tactic during the war to create minor defence pwsitsuch as this within existing buildings.

Immediately in front of the former animal shelter9 m north-east of the embrasure) is a depression
which has been created by the removal of a pilloa on the north-eastern side of this are various
fragments of corrugated iron which would probaldyé lined a sunken access trench into the pillbox.
The pillbox is shown on the 1945 plan.
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Site OA2: Flak Tower

NGR: ST 60119 81323 Phase Second World War defences
Site type intact structure

Location
The Flak Tower was located close to the northernmdge of the airfield.

History and background

The Flak Tower was constructed during (or in thepgrations immediately before) the Second World
War and was essentially a raised platform on whigjun would have been based with good all round
visibility with which to attack enemy aircraft amdth an enclosed magazine below. It was altered in
the 1980s (probably late 1980s) by the constructibran additional frame on top of the WWII
structure.

The Flak Tower is considered to be the most siggifi surviving building within the current
development site at Filton (although there are nsayrificant structures immediately outside the)sit
and in 2003 South Gloucestershire Council madejaest to English Heritage for the structure to be
considered for scheduling. The resulting EH assess concluded that although as a type the Flak
Tower is a relatively rare survival it is of loaather than national interest due to its relativebpr
survival and lack of group value or context (ie ttieer flak towers at the site do not survive).

Description

The Flak Tower has a distinctive form comprising tsvmilar but structurally separate blocks each of
which encloses a single room and forms a raisefl platform with concrete parapet walls. Each
block is constructed with a reinforced concretanigacomprising four corner posts supporting the
jettied and overhanging roof platform. The mairlsveetween the posts are of red brick infill (38 ¢
deep) and they incorporate a series of concregeHidefensive embrasures which would have
provided local defence and views across this fattieairfield in the event of a ground-based &ttac
on the aerodrome. The two blocks are of similze ¢gsouthern one 3.85 m sq, northern one 3.7 m sq)
but the southern block is taller and the overalif@f the tower has been significantly altered gy t
addition of a tall, metal-framed, post-war towed axternal metal staircase, with cabin on top which
is believed to have been used as a reserve cooivet.

The platform of the northern block splays out drf@lr sides but that of the southern block ovegsan

to the east and west sides only. The roof platfoane immediately adjacent to each other (and allow
access from one to the other) but due to the oweritiais creates a 1.34 m wide covered passage at
ground floor level which allows access through tlemrways into the two ground floor rooms. Parts
of the brickwork in the walls appear to have besuiit.

Traces of camouflage paint survive on several efttfick walls.

The lower (northern) platform would have housed itiegn fixed anti-aircraft gun, to attack aircraft
approaching the airfield from the north while tlaller southern platform would probably have been
intended for observers and light machine guns atepmounts. The floor surface of each platform
has been covered by a later layer of tarmac hilteatentre of the floor of the southern one isisech
plinth (65 cm squ) which would have been for the gwounting. At each corner of this platform are
simple covered ammo stores (1.05 m wide by 61 cepd® 67 cm tall) without doors. The main
ammo would have been stored in the room at grolorod &nd this would have been passed through a
hatch in the floor (now hidden). Also at each esrof each flat roof is a small simple drain.
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A sign on the door to the southern room showstthatarea had a secondary use in the second half of

the 2d" century as a ‘PMR Standby Facility’. Another siays ‘danger battery charging in progress’.
The door to the northern room is plain.

The interiors of each room are of similar form witare brick walls and few if any features relatiog
the war-time use of the structure. The sheet nligialgs to the embrasures remain in-situ and in the
northern room is a secondary desk or small worlcheithe floor and ceiling of each room is of
exposed concrete.
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Site OA3: Sea Wolf Facility

NGR: ST 59741 81148 Phase Post War developments
Site type Complex of intact buildings

Location and known history

In the northern part of the Northfield site is atifict group of buildings within a self-contained

compound known as the ‘Sea Wolf Facility’. Thiswell to the north of the former RAF base and
historic airfield and was purpose built in the 198@r the assembly and test of the Vertically
Launched Seawolf missile during the Development Rratiuction phases of the project. A plague at
the entrance to the compound confirms that it waesied in 1985.

Prior to the Second World War this area appeahate been agricultural land and historic maps show
it as part of a field pattern but aerial photogsafiom April 1944 show it covered by hardstanding
and forming part of the large US Air Force depatipawhich was formed here in the logistical
preparations for D-Day (OA12). Post-war aerial tplygoaphs suggest that prior to the construction of
the Sea Wolf facitlity this area was not developad was shrubland and overgrown hardstanding.

When OA first visited the site in 2001 it was stlltop secret operational area which could not be
photographed or inspected.

The description below includes valuable informatimch was kindly provided in the preparation of
this report by John Frankham, former Chief Engirdehe Sea Wolf project.

General site description

The Sea Wolf facility comprises seven main buildimghich have been labelled Buildings A-G in the
current study (see plan). The compound has a seeuieter fence and the only access into the area
was from the west past the gate house and via af s#tort roads which led to each building. The
buildings are generally dispersed from one ano#met the facility is located in an area where the
ground slopes down noticeably towards the west. Jiloeind towards the eastern edge of the site,
where the key buildings are located also appealhate been lowered/levelled and the spoil used to
construct a substantial protective bank (c.3 m) tallbng the eastern side of the main buildings
(detailed further below). The slope of the ground the bank to the rear gives the main buildings th
appearance of being partially sunken and John Reanlkhas confirmed that this was for protection if
there was an accidental explosion or motor igniilorone of the buildings. Similarly the physical
separation of the buildings was to prevent a ‘knock effect between buildings the event of an
accident. The assembly of the missiles involvedidakl rocket motors.

Building A
Building A was the Main Assembly Area for the Se#wMdissile, comprising of Changing Room
Facilities, Test Room, Test Cell, Alignment andi@waiells (J Frankham pers comm).

Theexteriorof the building has the character of a large modiat-roofed shed and each elevation is
clad in lightweight, corrugated light grey pandjli(coated metal) to the lower half. The upper bélf
each elevation is clad in black panelling wherehesection overlaps the next and would have allowed
ventilation to the building. The frame structurettod building is expressed through black paintedist
posts which articulate the lower light grey pamgllbut which are hidden beneath the darker cladding
to the upper half. The plan of the building is gailg rectangular (c.32 m x c.18 m) but the south-
western corner is inverted and there a lower eogrgiorch in this area.

Observations were also made on the building durisgdemolition and this provided evidence
regarding the structure of the building beneath dlaelding. There appears to have been a large
rectangular plan ‘core’ constructed from thick femsed concrete and then around the northern and
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western sides of this was a much lighter weigheldtamed structure with simple horizontal and
vertical members. The concrete section would ofebdve housed the main assembly operations
where there was some risk of accidental motor igmitThe concrete was painted black and there
appears to have been a layer of fibre insulatidwéxen it and the cladding.

Among the more interesting features of the buildirexternal shell are a set of six large red ptasti
‘pop-out’ plugs or stoppers in each bay of the edestation. These bright plugs, which are 1.5 m in
diameter give the elevation something of a postenodrchitectural appearance typical of the mid
1980s and John Frankham has confirmed that inwbetef an accidental motor ignition they would
pop out and the energy would be released outsile tibsorbed by the adjacent earth bank.

The main access into the building is from severrd (largely painted red) along the western and
southern elevations including three doors for pei@esaccess and a larger shuttered door towaeds th
centre of the west wall which would have been whbee assembled missiles would have left the
building on vehicles. The main roadway leads te ttiorway.

Theinterior of the building is very plain with no adornmengimted concrete walls and floors and
very few features. The principal production assegnanea (ie the rectangular plan block towards the
south-east divides into a full length circulatiopase to the west and to the east of this are six
individual bays separated from each other by cdaeanalls. The northern bay was a test cell where
tests would have been undertaken and the othexr wak a build cell where the missiles would have
been assembled on trolleys. The ‘build cells’ welian but there was an imprint visible in the floor
from where the build trolleys would have sat wigmaining lugs or holding-down bolts. The four
southernmost ‘build cells’ were open to the wedtthe northern two cells (including the Test cell)
had double split doors (like very tall stable ddars to the high ceiling. Immediately outside thstt
cell is a red ‘test in progress’ warning light dndide there is a large, rectangular raised immimthe
floor where the test stand was bolted to the floor.

The ‘pop-out’ plug in the east wall of each of #ig bays is not clearly visible internally although
large metal security grille fixed to the internalis clearly shows their locations.

A guided trackway formed from RSJs is fixed to tedling which would extends along the spine of
the circulation space and incorporates branch@ecinto each of the bays. Clearly this track syste
would have carried missiles and/or parts aroundhbihiéding and it links into the adjacent block
(Building C).

Along the northern and western steel-framed sideshe building were various service rooms
including the loading and unloading area to thelsofi the shuttered entrance and to the northisf th
were two small rooms: one contained the paint haatld the second contained small stores cables etc
(J Frankham pers comm). The internal walls in thassas are largely constructed from concrete
block. At the southern corner of the building wesaall nitrogen store.

Building B

Building B was the plant room located between Bogd A & B and serving them with heating and

air supplies. This was a smaller and lower box-tgpéding than the two adjacent structures and it
was clad in light grey panelling. It had a simpéetangular plan (c.10 m x 7 m) with an inverted
north-east corner and the main door was in the wedit No internal access was possible in the
current recording although signs on doors showed tbwards the northern corner there was a
solvents store and to the west of this was a sgitahroom.

Building C

Building C was the original Research & Developmigiotk which pre-dated the other ranges and was
constructed in 1983 (J Frankham pers comm). Thiklibg again took the form of a large, single
storey shed with a flat roof and plain rectangplan (c.32 x 12m). Similarly to Building A the lowe
half of the elevations were of light grey corrught@adding while the upper halfs were of darker
cladding with long horizontal slats (possibly vgnt3he west elevation is very plain and dividet® in
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six bays. There is a pedestrian entrance in théheounost bay while the third bay from the south ha
sliding doors which allowed vehicular access intgered through passage. The rear (east) elevation
has five red plastic pop-out plugs the same atho8uilding A and two pedestrian doorways in the
southern bays.

Limited observations were made during the demadalittd the building and it appears that it was
entirely constructed of reinforced concrete benéagitladding.

The interior divides into two main sections, onetther side of the covered vehiclular loading bay
the south of the centre. To the north of the cébimy were four further build cells (similar to g®in
Building A) and a test room while on the east sfiéhe building while on the west side was an open
area. There are RSJs fixed to the ceiling whichlsvdiave formed an overhead travelling track to
carry missiles and parts around the building. Trask extends out of the southern end of this area,
into the covered loading bay and then dog-legs leefsire returning south again into the room on the
south side of the loading bay. At the intersectiohghe track there are separate circular junction
pieces which could be rotated to allow the misditetirn 90 degrees. These were operated by simple
mechanisms wth pulleys and cables fixed to the.wall

Building D

Building D was an isolated structure which was uasd storage area for holding motors prior to
assembly. This was a relatively small building (&.X 6 m) in which the western half was an open-
faced, covered area and the eastern half was ke simgm. The building was clad in the lightweight
metal-coated cladding and the structure appedrave been entirely reinforced concrete. There was a
very tall set of split doors which allowed acce#® ithe room (sign with 16W-24 on door) and above
this entrance is a RSJ track on which motors cbalk been transferred from vehicles into the store
room. Another sign on the building states that tras ‘Store A’

Building E

Building E was a further isolated store buildingiethis located towards the southern edge of the
compound. This is larger than the other two st@Besldings D & F) and it would have functioned as
the despatch store where assembled Seawolf Missiges held prior to despatch. This building is
again a simple oblong box (c.18 m x 7 m) with & flaof and while the main walls are clad in light
grey corrugated panels the upper third is formedhfdarker panels with long vents. The building is
three bays long and the north-western bay would Havmed an open-faced, covered loading bay.
Between the loading bay and the main internal spmeeset of tall, sliding ‘concertina’ doors. The
interior is very plain with painted concrete wabist there is an RSJ fixed to the ceiling with a kma
motorised travelling winch.

Building F

Building F was the third isolated store buildingdaih was located towards the western side of the
compound. Externally it is very similar to Buildirfy with a relatively small plan incorporating a
covered, open-faced loading area to east but teenal area is divided into two rooms: one side was
for holding motors prior to assembly while the setcaell would have held casualty missiles (J
Frankham pers comm). A sign on the building shdves this was known as Store B and other signs
show that the southern room, which had an RSJ duidek and split doors, was 16W-25 and the
northern room, was 16W-26. The building is ¢.7.7®bng x 5.5 m wide.

Building G

Building G was the guard/gate house and flankedntivéhern side of the entrance to the Sea Wolf
compound. John Frankham has said that entry/exillopersonnel and equipments was strictly
controlled from this building. All personnel wererstinized individually for potentially hazardous
materials/devices and the building also servedagdst area for all staff working on the sitesla
simple, single storey building clad in corrugateh@ling similar to that on the main Sea Wolf
buildings and with a covered secure area at th fubich is covered in a wire mesh.
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On the building is a plaque saying that the facilitas opened on 10 May 1985 by Rear Admiral
GGW Marsh CB, OBE. In this area there is also a& swih red lights stating ‘Test in progress, no
exit, Sea Wolf facility, use alternative road'.

John Frankham has said that just inside the comhooeyond the gate house was a famous pond
where they kept fish and which was very populahwisitors!
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Site OA4: ‘Concorde’ Hangar

NGR: ST 59839 80777 Phase Post-war developments
Site type Intact building

Location
Immediately to the north of Hayes Lane and to @&t ef the site of Hayes Farm

History

This is a very large, modern hangar which was coostd in the 1980s (probably later 1980s)
apparently to store components for the Concorilerd#t. The airfield plan from 1945 and aerial
photographs from the Second World War show the hoesing a series of temporary barrack huts.
An aerial photograph from June 1989 shows the mgléut one from 1980 shows the area not built
upon (other than a fragmentary layout from previbuidings).

Patrick Hassell and Cliff Richard who worked atiéil for many years have said that the hangar was
constructed ¢.1985-6 and that it replaced lotsuté and a former rifle range.

Filton has a strong relationship with Concorde tigto the fact that the aircraft was tested and
prototypes manufactured here and this gives soteeest to the hangar even though it was only used
for the storage of components. Indeed the taglinéh® ‘Concorde at Filton’ visitor attraction is
‘birthplace of supersonic travel'.

When the main phase of recording in the currenfeptavas undertaken the building was still in use
and at this stage it was not possible to inspedhierior for security reasons. However photogiap
recording was undertaken on the building duringlé@molition.

Description

The Concorde Hangar is ¢. 70 m long by ¢.36 m vadd is a plain shed covered in light grey
corrugated cladding and with a shallow pitch gabtedf. The east elevation comprises a red
‘concertina’ type door supported on a steel limiblch extends beyond the main walls of the building
so that almost the entire elevation can be opened.

The structure of the hangar comprises a serieseef portal frames supported at each end by large
steel stanchions (c.75 cm long)with diagonal brgdiowards each corner. The roof cladding is

supported on a series of common purlins (10 to ekage) and the end bays have additional steel ‘zig

zag’ bracing
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Site OA4: Concorde hangar
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Site OA5: Turntables and driving circle

NGR: ST 59542 80910 (large turntable) Phase Post-war developments
NGR: ST 59506 80883 (small turntable) Site type partially intact structures
NGR: ST 59511 81030 (driving circle)

Location
These are located in the northern part of the sitdside (to the north of) the pre-WWIl airfield
boundary but within the area of the former USAABda

Background

This site comprises three distinct but apparerglsited features: a small turntable, a larger tbtata
and a circular road (or driving circle). The age aignificance of the larger turntable has previpus
been the subject of an assessment by Oxford Arabge@uly 2006) due to the possibility of it being
older than previously supposed and of greater dgmitinterest. It is believed that these features
formed part of, or were related to, the antenntintg$acility (see OA11).

Historic plans and aerial photographs

The turntables and driving circle are within a dietegpart of the site which remained as fields for
much of the Second World War (shown as fields orAafield Plan dated April 1945 held at RAF
Museum) but which was used as an American Airf@aenp towards the end of the war (see OA12).
Another airfield plan dated 1948 labels the larngmaetween Hayes Lane and the by-pass (including
the site of the turntable) as ‘Disused USAAF Camphe turntables themselves however had not been
constructed by this date and they are also not slteawan Ordnance Survey map from 1971.

A study of aerial photographs confirm that the diees had not been constructed in June 1969 but that
they had been built by 1980. It is interesting tbenhow brightly the circle and other features appe
and how clearly they stand out suggesting they drag relatively recently been constructed. In
contrast a later image, from June 1989, again shbestwo circles but they appear to be more
weathered and they stand out less than in 1980.

Post-war use of this area

In 1959 the Bristol Aeroplane Company merged wéhesal other manufacturers to form the British
Aircraft Corporation which later became part oftBh Aerospace and then in 1999 BAE Systems.
The large area which formed the World War 1l USAB&se was used by this organisation and that
part which includes the site of the turntable wasduby a missile research/development division of
the company

The most important missile which originated at dfiltwas the Bloodhound Surface to Air Missile
which was developed by the Bristol Aeroplane Comfamm 1947 and it was first deployed in 1958.
A second version (Bloodhound Il) was operationallBg4 and remained in use until the early 1990s.
The Bloodhound was the UK’s main air defence weagaoh was in large-scale service for much of
the second half of the 20th century.

However, after discussions with her BAE Systemseagues, Lynda Stone has informed OA that it
was the Rapier missile that was developed in tlea arth the turntables. The first version of the
Rapier was developed in the 1960s but developnfemtsecond version (the FSC) was undertaken in
the late 1980s and the system entered serviced. 19

Another missile developed at Filton was the Seaf\Wblich was first developed in the 1970s but
research on a updated version is known to have legertaken at Filton as recently as 2001 (A Haile
pers comm). This was when OA undertook their aagsurvey of the site and no access was possible

! This information is provided by Lynda Stone (BAgs&ms) who has discussed the turntable and theopa
the site in which it stands with her colleaguesns®f which have worked at the Filton site for malegades.
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to the area where the Sea Wolf missile was beisgarehed. This was not the area where the
turntables and driving circle are located.

Main turntable

The large turntable structure is located ¢.200 théonorth of Hayes Lane. The feature is reachea by
straight concrete road which extends south-east fitte main track through this part of the site.
Metal sheets were bolted to the ground along thiskt(a small number survive).

The feature is a circular pit (c.10.5 m diametet75 m deep) on which a turntable used to stammd b
the turntable has been removed within recent yetat&o and relocated to a different part of the sit
(A Haile pers comm). What now survives is a pitman ledge towards the outer edge on which a
series of small wheels used to sit to support atate the metal turntable. Very few of these wheel
survive. There is a concrete inner ring which dtamerly had supporting wheels and within this is
the base from the former hub of the turntable wittes from the former operating mechanism.

Towards the southernmost point of the featurerisctangular recess, adjoining the edge of thesgircl
where the pit extends and houses a metal box withpan top. There are various bolts, brackets and
cables within the box and presumably some form sér@sing or measuring device would have been
located within or on top of this box. The concreteetalwork and cables suggest a later 20th-century
date.

Alan Haile, who has worked at the site for BAE 8yss$ for over 15 years says that while he has been
at Filton his understanding of the main turntabées been that it was for EMC testing (Electronic
Magnetic Capability) to check that electronic degiequipment could pick up signals whatever their
orientation. He has said that vehicles, engineileer equipment) would have been placed on the
turntable and then rotated while a fixed deviceideeshe turntable would measure whether signals
could be communicated with the vehicle/engineis linteresting to note that modern aerial photos
(Google Earth) of this area show heavy wear togitoeind between the site of the turntable and the
buildings of the antenna testing facility (OAll) ttee west suggesting that the two areas were
functionally connected.

David Atkins, who also worked at the site, has alsed (in an e-mail to Lynda Stone) that thers wa
a turntable in this part of the site which was usedneasure antenna patterns on light vehicles and
that it was not built for a specific project. H&timated that this was ¢.20 years old and they chove
this turntable to a different (active) part of g2 where it continues to perform its previousction.

Smaller turntable

The remains of the smaller turntable are locat8@ ma SSW from the larger turntable and it is also
connected to the buildings of the antenna testigity to the north-west. This feature is 4.5 m in
diameter and it is also a circular pit from whiclioemer turntable has been removed. The bottom of
the pit is filled by a layer of mud which hides gmyssible evidence of fixings, runners or wheeis b
bolts are visible from the former supporting stawetfor the turntable. One interesting feature are
subtle blue and white gauge marks which extendratrdlie rim of the circle which would clearly have
allowed the turntable to be rotated to a speciinip

Driving circle

This feature is a circular road, c.54 m in diametgh a shallow grass covered mound within it. The
road has a number of ridges within it (like smaiinble strips) but other than this it is relatively
featureless.
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Site OAG: Pill box by Hayes Farm

NGR: ST 59661 80759 Phase WWII airfield defences
Site type intact structure

Location
This pillbox is immediately to the south of the Wwestrance into Hayes farm.

History

The pillbox is not shown on the 1945 or 1948 plbns it was almost certainly constructed in the

summer of 1940 as part of the series of structwtésh were added around the airfield’s perimeter to
defend it from potential attack. This desperategpamme of emergency works was a reaction to the
realisation that airfields would be a key targettfee Germans and defences should be ready fareith

an aerial attack or a land-based attack followimdnétial invasion.

Description

The pillbox, which is of the Air Ministry Norcon e, survives in good condition and covered the
entrance to the farm with interlocking fields afefiwith other defence posts along the west anchnort
sides of the airfield perimeter. The Air Ministryohon type pillbox was a pre-cast reinforced
concrete cylinder with six loopholes and small ante. It measured 2.04 th x 1.2 m and 0.24 m
thick and was set on a six course high brick cacllase. This was set 1.4 m in the ground with a
partly covered brick lined trench entering it ajhti angles from the west. The pillbox had a 0.24 m
thick concrete cast roof and floor with a 4” ceramipe drain from floor into boundary ditch.

This pillbox is of the same type as 120a which sw along the field boundary to the north of Hayes
Farm.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 51



:
"g ok
A
_.b'*-.‘._b&

e S

-=f_' Py
S

=

& S

3
'
Ay

Inlay map taken from Filton record site plan (1945)

1:50

Figure 1: Site OAB, pillbox



\\Server8linvoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\*FILAIRBS*Filton Airfield*CDP*16.01.12

Site OA6: Pillbox to west of Hayes Farm

OAG Plate 2

OAG Plate 1

Northfield, Filton Airfield - Gazetteer of Buildings and Structures

OAG Plate 4

OAG6 Plate 3



Site OA7: Radio aerial mast bases

NGR: ST 59742 80874 & ST 59561 80607 Phase Second World War
Site type partially intact structures

Location

To the north of Hayes Farm is a row of three caecpads which are each shown on the 1945 airfield
plan and which have been located in the currerirdaeg. A further two very similar pads have also
been found further to the south, within the 192€fetd.

History
These pads (as well as several others) are clshdwn on the wartime aerial photographs. The
function of these pads is uncertain but it mayhae they were for radio masts.

Description

The three surviving concrete pads to the north ajds Farm are from of a group of four aligned
north-west to south-east that were shown on th® 18dp. The two pads to the south-east were 4.9
m? and the north-western pad was 39and all were 0.16m thick. In the centre of eacls waircle

of six 4 inch square holes 0.72 m in diameterhin tivo side pads (ie not the central one) theee is
shallow rectangular imprint in the concrete, in tkatre of the circle 16” x 4”.

The two similar pads found within the main RAF bas=e located towards the western end of the
technical area, and they appear to have been southe from a group of four similar pads. The four
were shown on the 1945 map and aerial photographsy were 2.6 m square and 0.10 m thick with a
0.02 m raised centre, 0.85 [Mwith six 0.10 m square socket holes around it.s€heere 0.10 m in
depth and for a mount possibly and aerial or mast.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 52



@ \\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\FILAIRBS\OA7*Filton Airfield*CDP*25.01.12
] o
/ // “\\ \ /
/ Site OA7 \ N/

[Jrm V)
/Q ./ \.

=z

\

\| |
. :
/ \ \\ \\ ¢ N
{
\ /
\

N4

\=-
\|
S x \\ -
— \— — — N
3 T b
¢ y. e R IR
— 0 100 m
i - 1:2000 \

- | L ! — - |

_ |
'All OS data reproduced by permission of the Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. License AL 100005569

Maplet of site OA7



Site OA7: Radio aerial mast bases
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Site OA8: Haye’s Lane Defence post

NGR: ST 59349 80761 Phase Second World War defences
Site type partially intact structure

Location
At the west side of the ‘T’ junction where Hayeskaadjoins the road into the camp survives one of
the many defence posts which were constructedipodegend the airfield from attack.

History

This defence post would have formed part of thdesysof airfield defence which was probably

constructed in 1940 to counter the threat from Geryn From the spring of 1940 it rapidly became
appreciated that airfields would be a key targetlie Nazis and that preparations should be made fo
possible land-based attacks as well as aerialkattac

Description

This feature is in the form of a rectangular hollaligned east to west, with a ramp into it at itsstv
end. It measures 13 m x 5 m with sloping sides flatabase 6.6 m x 3.5 m and was 1.4 m below
ground surface. This appears to be a positionragidield armoured vehicle to drive into for a lul
down defensive position. On the south side of tblbotv a small emplacement was located with a
concrete cast embrasure and earthworks. In thersevease are two cast niches for small arms
ammunition and explosives.
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Site OA9: V-bomber dispersal base

NGR: ST 59965 80833 Phase post-war developments
Site type Area of airfield

History

During the late 1950s and early 1960s during thehtef the Cold War Filton was designated as one
of the RAF's V-bomber dispersal bases, presumalbgiely due to the extension of the runway a few
years previously. The V-Force was the UK's strategiclear strike force and at times of internationa
tension it was dispersed in groups of either twéoar aircraft to a number of bases across the tcpun
in an attempt to counter the impact of a pre-enepdittack. During the Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962
Vulcan bombers were kept in a state of readineBdtan.

Location

The V-bomber dispersal area at Filton was almagaicdy immediately to the north-east of the 1920s
RAF base and to the east of the Concorde Hangkargh area of hardstanding with a distinct pattern
matching other known V-bomber dispersal basesasvslon aerial photographs of Filton from 1963
onwards. No such feature is shown on wartime phafuts.

The feature is broadly rectangular (c.245 x 110mplan but with a semi-circular north-western end
and it is connected to the long runway by a naraineraft taxiway. There does not appear to have
been any buildings in this dispersal area.

Although the use of the use of this area as a VHeordispersal area appears to have been confined to
the late 1950s and 1960s it is clear from aerigt@iraphs that the area of hardstanding was still
maintained into the 21st century and it was propaldo used by the airfield for other purposes.

When the current recording was undertaken thisingide the operational airfield so access was not
possible although the area is within the Northfigéhelopment site The Archaeology of Airfieldsy
Bob Clarke contains further information of V-bombdispersal bases and the typical plan of
dispersals.
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Site OA10: Air raid shelters (East
boundary)

NGR: ST 60430 81019 Phase Second World War
Site type intact structure

Location
These three semi-sunken air raid shelters are ddcatong the eastern boundary of the site,
immediately adjacent to the Gloucester Road andutdsvthe north-east corner of the airfield.

History

These shelters are not shown on the 1945 airfildd put they were clearly constructed shortly
before, or during the early stages of, the Secondd\WVar. These would have formed part of a much
larger collection of air raid shelters around tivfedd and nearby BAC factories. Indeed these wloul
have been a considerable distance from the main RAlEings and it may well be that they were
principally intended for the employees of the aftifactories. The South Gloucestershire Historic
Environment Record contains listings for numeroingad shelters, particularly flanking Gloucester
Road. Many of these appear to have been of a sifoila to the three covered by this gazetteer entry
(eg SGSMR9721 SGSMR17382). The HER states that tivere originally 23 shelters, all of the
same design and each one probably capable of lgotd#® people. They are listed as variant Stanton
shelters.

Description
Each of the three shelters were of the same basistrtiction and although they were almost entirely
overgrown, their form and entrances were just igsib

Each shelter was constructed from cast concretehadda long narrow plan (13 m long x 1.52 m
wide) with an arched roof (2 m high). They wereksr2 m into the ground and stood 1.5 m high
above with the soil covering. There was a 0.6 amditer circular escape hatch with a metal hatch at
one end and a narrow passage with 6 steps atargjies to a 0.68 m wide doorway at the other. A
light switch fed by a cable though a hole in the ¢ the wall was opposite the entrance. These were
the same as the group of air raid shelters atabeend of the run way. No internal fittings ortdises
remained in-situ.

The northern end of the northern shelter is ¢.1t8 the south of an electrical substation.
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Site OA10: Air raid shelter (east boundary)
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Site OA11l: Antenna testing facility

NGR: ST 59446 80929 Phase Post-war developments
Site type various

Location
This is located in the northern part of the sitesme the pre-WWII airfield but on part of theesf
the former USAAF camp.

History

As detailed elsewhere a large temporary US Airf@@ep was established in the area to the north of
the airfield in the latter stages of the Second ldv@var and that after the removal of the camp at th
end of the war this area remained largely disusétie British Aircraft Corporation (then British
Aerospace, then BAE Systems) took over this arehcantain parts of the site found uses such as
missile development and an antenna testing facilig constructed towards the centre of the former
US camp. Aerial photographs show that the antéesting facility was established between 1969 and
1980 (probably later 1970s) and it appears to lcaveprised several distinct elements. These include
two turntables (included elsewhere in gazettehg antenna buildings and (possibly) a driving eircl
(detailed elsewhere).

Description

The antenna testing equipment was housed withinptaim prefabricated sheds located on the south
side of the main track which passes through thit gfathe site. One of the sheds is a white colour
and has a small lobby (a separate prefab adjoinuity) ‘16 W-1 Antenna Range’ on the door. This
building has a large antenna immediately to thdlsotiit fixed to the floor. The other prefabriedt
building is a brown/yellow colour and it has 16\&&er its door. Both buildings have what appears
to be various electrical measuring devices (egdration sets with dials etc)

On the north side of the track, immediately opposie prefabs is a single storey brick buildingeatid
in the 1980s (not shown on AP of 1980 but is shawrone of 1989). This building has a shallow
pitch roof and it has two garage-type doors tostheth side. It was presumably a vehicle housdsand
marked 16W-7.
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Site OA12: US Army Air Force temporary
camp

NGR: ST 59446 80929 Phase Second World War
Site type site of former camp

History

A large section of the northern part of the curdenelopment site lies outside the historic boupdar
of the RAF Filton airfield and the 1945 plan shaivs area as fields with hedge boundaries intact.
However the 1948 plan labels this large area asu@d USAAF Camp’ and dotted lines show
probable areas of hard standing which partiallyisertoday.

Further information on this part of the site is\pded in David Berryman'’s ‘Gloucestershire Airfisld

in the Second World War'. This states that in Nuoler 1943 the USA Airforce established the ‘IX
Base Aircraft Assembly Depot (BAAD) on the northsiaside of Filton Airfield, with technical and
accommodation sites for 1000 personnel near Clmavitbage, alongside the Patchway by-pass’. At
this site American planes were assembled afteriagrin crates at Bristol Docks and this must be th
same USAAF base as is shown on the 1948 plan.riZtba 1945 plan was partly based on an earlier
plan and that by this date the US camp had alrbaedy established.

The USAAF camp was one of a great many establighétk south of England in second half of the
war (Operation Bolero: the logistical build-up teday) and it is very clearly shown on an aerial
photograph from April 1944 (included in this docurhat the front of the gazetteer). This shows a
large collection of tents tightly packed togethethie triangular northern part of the site, in whibe
1000 personnel would presumably have been housetthe even larger area to the south of this were
five large prefabricated sheds in which the plamesild presumably have been erected. Many
aeroplanes are shown across this area and thessiiked with containers, vehicles and a new
temporary road layouts. It is interesting to nibiat the 1944 map shows markings just to the west o
Hayes Farm which strongly appear to be a baseibeitl. p

A further aerial photograph from March 1946 alsowb the area but by then it had been totally
vacated by the Americans and the area is largedgrtesd. The hangars and tents have been removed
although the very clear imprint of the former caremains in the form of tracks, building bases and
other cleared areas.

In 1959 the Bristol Aeroplane Company merged wétesal other manufacturers to form the British
Aircraft Corporation which later became part oftBh Aerospace and then in 1999 BAE Systems.
The large area which formed the World War 1l USAB&se formed part of the post-World War I

expansion of the site and of this company.

Various post war aerial photographs have beeneddudhd much of the site of the USAAF base

appears to have remained unused to the present tiBeveral areas have been used by British
Aerospace (then BAE) for missile development anerdhare separate sections in the gazetteer
covering these areas (Sea Wolf Installation, timet driving circle, antenna testing facility).

Description

Other than the features described elsewhere theokithe former USAAF camp is something of a

wasteland. A small number of building bases sertwards the west end of the site (brick faced)
and there are many large items dumped here sudhrges containers, metal frames, fibre glass
structures and boxes. There are also several piedtdrl temporary sheds probably dating to the
1980s and forming security huts. The site of thaperary tents at the north-eastern corner is now
overgrown and disused.
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Site OA13: Northern Guard House

NGR: ST 60456 81116 Phase Second World War
Site type roofed building

Location
This is located at the north-eastern corner ofsiteeand although it appears to have been disused f
many years it formed a small guardhouse at thiseoe to the airfield from Gloucester Road.

History
This guardhouse is not shown on the 1945 or 194&ldi plans although it strongly appears to be of
mid 20th century date and if it hadn’t been cortrd by the date of these plans it must have been

built soon after.

Description

The northern guardhouse is a single storied bugldaiith corrugated asbestos-panel covered gabled
roof. It is constructed with single skin (stretch®nd) brick, covered by rough render, and it das
rectangular plan (4.9 m x 2.75 m). The interiodigded into a main room for the guard and a small
toilet/store area at the south-west corner. Thm ratrance to the building is through a door &t th
west end of the north elevation while entrancento\WC is through a door at the centre of the west
elevation. There are windows to each elevatiohefothan the west wall) which are all crittal type
windows but which are now boarded over.
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Site OA14: Officers quarters

NGR: ST 59449 80648 Phase 1920s Airfield
Site type: site of former building

Location

The Officers quarters (together with various assted buildings) were located to the west of the
airfield’s technical area close to the junctionvwetn Hayes Lane and the entrance road to the camp
from the west.

Description

None of these buildings now survive, many havingrbdemolished in the 1990s, but a number of
ground floor platforms do survive and the outlifgh® former structures is shown on the two 1940s
airfield plans. Several sections of red tile flemrvive as well as other areas with the impriotrfr
former wooden block flooring.

The largest building was the Officers Mess whicmpdsed three main ranges: a central range (SW-
NE) with walkway links to two side ranges (eacheatated SE-NW). Aerial photographs from the
1940s show that these ranges each had hipped aodfst is safe to assume that they followed a
standard RAF type. The 1945 airfield plan showat tihne Mess was constructed from drawing
number 1588/26 and that it could accommodate 48apf. To the south of the Officers Mess appears
to have been an open grassed area enclosed by anddbeyond this was the YMCA building. To
the north of the Officers Mess were two rectangblacks which formed Officers quarters and each
of these were ‘for 7 officers in cubicles’ (194%p). The plan also shows that these were of timber
construction, which explains why no trace of thappears to survive whereas concrete bases survive
from the permanent brick structures.

To the north of the timber quarters was a furthelding for the ‘Old Group Officers Quarters’ (1945
plan). This was of brick and the building basdipfly survives together with the curved driveway t
the building. In the previous Oxford Archaeologsessment of the buildings at Filton (2003) this
was included as the station Commanders House asdikiely that it served both functions at various
times. The surrounding hedge and gateposts suinauethis house.

Two officers garages are shown in this area: ormeddiately to the north west of the ‘Old Group
Quarters’ and one to the west of the Officers Mess.

Northfield, Filton Airfield Gazetteer of buildings and structures
Oxford Archaeology 59



@ \\Server8\invoice codes a thru h\F_invoice codes\FILAIRBS\OA14*Filton Airfield*CDP*26.01.12

B e —

'All OS data reproduced by permission of the Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. License AL 100005569

Maplet of site OA14



Site OA14: Officers quarters
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OAL14 Plate - Officers quarters (after Hall, 1995)
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Site OA15: Site of Barrage Balloon

NGR: ST 59565 80751 Phase Second World War Defences
Site type partially surviving structure

Location
The Barrage Balloon was located in a field on thegmside of Hayes Lane and to the west of Hayes
Farm

History
It is known from aerial photographs (and the curiewestigation) that there was a barrage balloon i
an area to the north of Hayes Lane, which was a@eitsie 1920s airfield.

In June No 935 (Balloon Barrage) Squadron arrivieBilton to operate a system of balloons to help
defend the airfield and these were flown nightlg &llowing air raid warnings.

Description

The surviving evidence of the former barrage ball@@mprises two concentric circular rings of
concrete blocks to which barrage balloons wouldehasen tethered. The two rings of blocks for the
barrage balloon are shown on wartime aerial phafggg and although they were largely hidden
beneath vegetation and rubble at the start of theesiot project a number of the pads have been
partially or fully exposed in the recording . Tfieings are 60 cm x 60 cm concrete blocks with a
central bolt. The inner ring has a diameter of &28 and the outer ring has a diameter of ¢.38.5 m.
The current work has identified 14 pads from theeinring but it would probably have comprised a
total of 24. The 1944 aerial photograph also appashow 24 pads in the outer ring. The padken t
inner ring are c.3m apart.

At the eastern end of this field, adjacent to tbemier balloon are the remains of three buildings
(OA18) which were probably stores or other anagillawildings for the balloon.
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Site OA16: Pickett-Hamilton Fort

NGR: ST 59647 81100 Phase Second World War defences
Site type EXx-situ, partially surviving structure

Location

On the south side of the track which leads intoSba Wolf Facility (OA3) within the former USAAF
base (OA12) is a circular concrete structure ithatmost certainly the remains of a Pickett-Haomilt
Fort. The structure was heavily overgrown and aelimvestigation was not possible but it strongly
appears that it was ex-situ and had been dumptdsitocation from elsewhere at the airfield. Tisis
supported by the fact that this location would hiagen outside the boundary of the airfield at taet s
of the Second World War from when the fort woulddaeen constructed.

History

The Pickett-Hamilton Fort is a distinctive type afcular-plan pillbox which was constructed at
airfields from January 1941. The forts comprised twncrete rings, one immediately inside the other,
and the inner one of which could be mechanicaligec or lowered. Therefore when the airfield was
in use the top of the concrete would be flush vilign ground but when the aerodrome was threatened
it could be raised to provide fire from three loof@s. The early models used counterbalance while
later models used a pneumatic mechanism and tranadiics to raise or lower the structure.

Unfortunately, despite their technical sophistimatthe Pickett-Hamilton Forts were a costly faijure
and after the programme was discontinued afteiiniti@l phases of construction. Their failure was
partly due to the unreliability of the lifting meahism and partly due to the ever larger bombensgbei
constructed which were too heavy to taxi over trést

Volume X (Airfield Defences in WWII) of The Councibr British Archaeology’s survey on 90
century fortifications in England contains a veseful summary of the Pickett-Hamilton programme
and a list of those forts constructed. This condirttnat three Pickett-Hamilton’s were built at Filto
(three was the standard number of forts addedrtields) and that the forts were described as being
‘due 28 Feb 1941'. At the start of the programnieted airfield’s in the country were divided intent
groups to reflect the priority of their constructioating and Filton appears to have been a medium
priority. It was in Group 6.

Description

The structure which remains at Filton is almosttaialy the inner, moving ring from a Pickett-
Hamilton Fort. It is a reinforced concrete cylindeapped at the top by a slightly larger concrétdec
which is ¢.1.75 m in diameter. The slight overhahthe circular cap would have rested on a ledge at
the top of the sunken outer ring when the fort wesacted. There are three rectangular loopholes in
the cylinder a short distance below the top offtiie In the top of the fort is an iron-lined hlatdoor
which would have allowed men into and out of the: fehen it was retracted.

The structure is now partially buried beneath vatigt and dumped rubble and this prevented a full
investigation of the structure.
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Site OAl17: Defence block/ammo stores by
Hayes Farm

NGR: ST 59659 80796 Phase Second World War defences
Site type partially intact structures

Location

A short distance to the west of the surviving gakédl from the former animal shelter at Hayes farm
are two small structures, very similar to each gthdich would probably have formed look-outs or
simple defence blocks added during the Second Wued

History

These structures would have formed part of theesysof airfield defence which was rapidly
constructed in the early stages of the Second WWvdd to counter the threat of a possible land-based
assault on the airfield following a German invasidhis interesting to note that graffiti on onktle
structures appears to confirm that these were ezteict 1940, when it is known that the great
emergency programme of defence works was underway.

Description

The two structures overlook the large field to toeth-west of Hayes Farm which was used in the
latter stages of the war by the US Air Force amy thre each set on slightly raised ground at the to
of a curved bank. This distinct quarter-circle @is shown on the plans from the 1940s.

The structures are each constructed from relatigaklge single-skin concrete blocks (24 cm wide),
which have the character of having possibly beerdeman site rather than mass-produced
commercially. Each structure comprises three wallthe form of a rectangle (2.9 m x 1.5 m) with

one of the long sides left open and there is adaatgshelf along the closed long side. The strestur

are c.1m tall and there is no clear evidence t@esitgthat they were formerly taller. There would
presumably have formerly been a simple roof ovehedructure but no evidence of this survives.

To the rear of the southern structure is a lowell lpaated c.1m from the main structure which
presumably former a protective barrier to the opast side. The protective wall is 50 cm thick and
has short westward returns at each end to furthieldsthe access into the store. It is 4.35 m land
only c.30 cm tall. A considerable number of frags of cast iron plates with circular perforations
were located around the structures, possibly frent grilles around doors.

An interesting feature of the northern shelterhiattin the internal render on the northern wall the
words ‘Laid in second year of the world war’ haweh inscribed. Presumably this was 1940.

The fact that these structures were constructeth fooncrete blockwork rather than reinforced
concrete like a pillbox strongly suggests that theye not part of the main ‘front line’ defenced bu
they are clearly located to look out over the fietothd the covering structure would presumably have
incorporated small embrasures and gun loops.

Other features in this general area which alsaadtathe airfield defences include a large dejwass
immediately north of the former Hayes Farm anintaler building which marks the location of a
former, removed pillbox. Adjacent to this thereviwes a largely collapsed former trench system
which would have provided covered access intopitieox. This pillbox is shown on the two 1940s
airfield plans. Another feature of interest is adoop which was added just above ground leveheat t
western end of the north wall of the Hayes Farnmahshelter. This was located between the former
pillbox and the two ammo stores and together tifiesteires highlight the strategic importance of this
area between the airfield ad the open fields totréh.
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Site OA 18: Barrage balloon stores/office

NGR: ST 59597 80754 Phase Second World War defences
Site type partially intact buildings

Location and known history:

On the north side of Hayes Lane and to the westagfes Farm is a long field which was outside the

1920s airfield but which is known from aerial phgrtphs (and the current investigation) to have been
the location of a barrage balloon (OA15). At tlestern end of this field, adjacent to the former

balloon are the remains of three buildings whichremgrobably offices, stores and/or other ancillary

buildings for the balloon.

These buildings are not shown on the two planbtefirfield from the 1940s although we can be very
confident that they had been constructed and tbegpgear to be shown on an aerial photograph from
1944,

The aerial photograph also shows what appears twddurther larger buildings immediately to the
west of the partially surviving structures.

Description

The three buildings are adjacent to each other amd broadly aligned north to south. The
southernmost of the three wartime buildings atwhestern end of the site retains its roof and is a
small, simple rectangular plan structure (3.5 m.& @) with a single room and there are partially
surviving iron shelving racks (three to each sidé)e walls are 34 cm thick, of red, English-bond
brickwork and there is a concrete lintel abovedber. Each shelf had a simple iron bar at the ftont
hold the items.

The other two structures have a much lighter, negrieemeral construction and have each lost their
roofs. It appears that they would have been twalainfor identical) structures with single-skin
brickwork and crittall type windows but the wallsw only partially survive. Only a simple L-plan
section of wall survives from the southern struetiwut all four walls partially survive from the
northern building. This building, which was 4.1 onyy by 2.06 m wide, had a window in the west
wall and it would have had a door in the north wale iron frame of the window partially survives
and it appears that it would have comprised fowsrof four small lights.

The top of one of the walls survives and the slopthis suggests that the buildings would have had
light, single pitch roofs.

A watching brief was undertaken during the dermmiitdf these three structures and the contraskin th
ease with which the last remains of the northero twildings were demolished, from the force
required to take down the southern structure wayg wearked. The southern building was very
robustly constructed and presumably stored heawgsitor even light ammao.
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